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Plaintiff, David Parks, filed a complaipto sein 2009, challenging various prison
conditions he faced while in the custody of @ennecticut Department of Correction (“DOC").
Compl., ECF No. 1; Am. ComplECF No. 17. After the Court disssed a number of claims in
an Initial Review Order under 28 U.S.C. 8191BAECF No. 26, and in a Ruling on a motion to
dismiss, ECF No. 96, appointed counsel for Rtrks filed a Second Amended Complaint, ECF
No. 146, in which he asserts three claagsinst the three remaining DefenddnfEhe three
Defendants are a medical doctor employed by DQCEdward Blanchette, and two wardens of
facilities in which Mr. Parks was incarceratiedm 2004 to 2010, Wardens James Dzurenda and
Peter J. Murphy.

Defendants now move for summary judgmeegking dismissal of all three claims
against all Defendants. Defs.” Mot. Forrsm. J., ECF No. 219. Inefendants’ view, the
undisputed material facts demonstrate that dreynot liable. DefsBr. 2, ECF No. 219-2. Mr.
Parks, on the other hand, suggesds this is “the quirdssential case” thainges on questions of
fact and credibility, and, therefore, that suamnjudgment would be inappropriate on any of his
claims. Pl.’s Opp. Br. 2, ECF No. 232.

Defendants have also filed a motion to correct one of their summary judgment filings.
Defs.” Mot. to Correct Exhibits, ECF No. 25%he motion asks the Court to accept a certificate
of authenticity for medical records accompangytheir summary judgment motion, which they
inadvertently omitted from the initial filing.

For the reasons that follow, the CoDENIES AS MOOT the Motion to Correct, ECF
No. 255,andGRANTS Defendants’ Motion for Summadudgment, ECF No. 219, in its

entirety.

! The Court appreciates the advocacy provided by appointed counsel Bark’s behalf throughout this case.
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l. Defendants’ Motion to Correct the Exhibits

Defendants’ Motion to Correct seeks to add aifceate of authenticity to some of their
summary judgment exhibits, explaining that thegdvertently left this document out when filing
their Motion for Summary Judgment. Defs.” Mo Correct, ECF No. 255. Mr. Parks opposes
the motion because it is untimely. Pl.’s Opp. B8, ECF No. 257. It igue that Defendants
provide no explanation for why they waited dak year after their summary judgment motion
was filed to correct the exhibitHowever, the Court finds that the medical records which the
Motion to Correct seeks to authenticate aré adiinissible and will consider them in ruling on
Defendants’ Summary Judgment Motion. Accogly, Defendants’ motion is denied as moot.

In ruling on a motion for summary judgmeatcourt need only consider admissible
evidence.Raskin v. Wyatt Cp125 F.3d 55, 66 (2d Cir. 199&ee alsd-ed. R. Civ. P. 56(c).
The medical records provided by Defendanéstegarsay but would be admissible under the
business records exception to the generausiam of hearsay, provided they meet the
requirements of Federal Rule of Evidence 803(6ed. R. Evid. 803(6%ee cf. Hodges V.
Keane886 F. Supp. 352, 356 (S.D.N.Y. 1995) (notingttimedical records kept by a medical
provider in a prison can be admissible as busirexszds if they meet the requirements of Rule
803(6)) (citingRomano v. Howartl998 F.2d 101, 108 (2d Cir. 19933%ke also Lewis v. Velez,
149 F.R.D. 474, 484 n.5 (S.D.N.Y. 1993) (citatiomsitted). To be admissible as business
records, the documents must have been madethe time of the recorded event by someone
with knowledge and must have been kept incingrse of regularly condted business activity.

Fed. R. Evid. 803(6)(A)-(B). In addition, it musive been the regulargmtice of that business

2 Most of the statements contained within these records are also admissible under FederalvRidaas 803(4),
which admits statements made for medical diagnosigatnient or that describe medical history or symptoms.
The Court need not analyze the reca€garately under this rule, because it finds that they are admissible as
business records.



activity to make them. Fed. R. Evid. 803(6)(E®ven if the documents meet all of these
requirements, “if the source of informationtbe method or circumstances of preparation
indicate [a] lack of trustworthirss, such records may be excludeHddges 886 F. Supp. at
356 (citation omitted); Fed. R. Evid. 803(6)(E).

Because “[t]he principles governing admigigip of evidence do not change on a motion
for summary judgment,” Defendants must introdthe@r medical records “in a manner, typically
through a custodian’s affidavit,ahidentifies them and establishinat they aradmissible under
Federal Rule of Evidence 803(6)Ravenell v. Avis Budget Grpnc., No. 08-cv-2113
(SLT)(SMG), 2014 WL 1330914t *2 (E.D.N.Y. Mar. 31, 2014(internal quotation marks and
citations omitted). Defendants may do so either by testimony of the custodian or other qualified
witness or by certifying the records as selfrauticating in compliance with Federal Rule of
Evidence 902(11). Fed. R. EvBD3(6)(D) (requiring that the cortdins of the business records
rule be shown “by the testimony of the cusaémdor another qualéd witness, or by a
certification that complies witRule 902(11) or (12)...")see also United States v. Komasa7
F.3d 151, 154-55 (2d Cir. 2014) (describing thetiefship between Rules 803(6) and 902(11)).
In their motion, Defendants belatedly seek tdrdolatter under Rule 902(11). Fed. R. Evid.
902(11).

Mr. Parks argues that, without any foundationthe exhibits’ admissibility, the Court
cannot consider Defendants’ medical records. Qtwrt disagrees. Eveithe exhibits are not
properly authenticated under R@e3(6)(D), Mr. Parks relied obefendants’ medical records in

opposing Defendants’ summary judgment motiginout objecting to their authenticify See

3 Mr. Parks specifically objected in his Opposition Btethe authenticity of one type-written portion of the

medical records, a set of notes written by Dr. Blanchett&poih 4, 2006. Pl.’s Opp. Br. 18, ECF No. 232; Pl.’s
Counterstmt. 1179-80, ECF No. 234; Ex 25, Clinical Record Notes dated 4/4/2006 at 0147. He does not question
the authenticity of any other as of the medical records.
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e.g, Pl.’'s Opp. Br. 12, 15-16, ECF No. 232 (citingHbit 25, which contains Defendants’
medical records)kee also e.gPl.’s Local Rule 56(a)2 Stmf224, ECF No. 234 (same).
Because Mr. Parks relied on these eitbjlthe Court will consider thensee Goris v. Bresljn
No. 04-CV-5666 (KAM)(LB), 2010 WL 376626, 4t n.1 (E.D.N.Y. Jan. 26, 2010) (admitting
medical records that were not properlyrenticated under Rule 803(6)(D), because the
opposing party relied on them without objegtito their authenticity or admissibilityAtkinson
v. FischerNo. 9:07-CV-00368 (GLS/GHL), 2009 W3165544, at *3 n.1 (N.D.N.Y. Sept. 25,
2009) (Report and Recommendation adojmgthe District Court) (same$gheils v. FlynnNo.
06-CV-0407, 2009 WL 2868215, at *2 n.2.INN.Y. Sept. 2, 2009 (Report and
Recommendation adopted by thes@ict Court) (same).

Moreover, like Defendants, Mr. Parks afgovides no explanation for why his objection
to the admissibility of the medical recordsswaot raised until nearlgne year after his
opposition was filed. In his Opposition Briefefendants’ Motion foSummary Judgment,
Mr. Parks does make certain objections to Defetgl&xhibits, which a& addressed below, but
he does not argue that all oktmedical records are generallgdmissible or not authentic and
has waived those objections at this sta§ee Capobianco v. City of New Y,0tR2 F.3d 47, 55
(2d Cir. 2005) (finding that, ideciding summary judgment, a distrcourt erred when it refused
to consider two reports because the objeqtiandy had waived objections to admissibility by
relying on the same reportssapport of their motion fasummary judgment).

In addition, it is “well-estalidhed” that “even inadmidslie evidence may properly be
considered on summary judgment if it may reabbnbe reduced to admissible form at trial.”
Bill Salter Advert., Inc. v. City of Brewton, Al&ivil Action No. 07-0081-WS-B, 2008 WL

183237, at *4 n.10 (S.D. Ala. Jan. 18, 2008) (rejeatibgctions made to the late submission of



a signature necessary to authenticate a summary judgment esebigisd-ed. R. Civ. P.
56(c)(2);Celotex Corp.v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 324 (1986) 324 (1986)Ve do not mean that
the nonmoving party must produce evidence in a fbiahwould be admissible at trial in order
to avoid summary judgment.”fraser v. Goodalg342 F.3d 1032, 1036 (9th Cir. 2003) (“At the
summary judgment stage, we do not focus erattimissibility of the evidence’s form. We
instead focus on the admissibility of its contents&xt. denied541 U.S. 937 (2004).
Defendants easily could authenticate these recotdslatsing the same certificate they seek to
file now. Refusing to considéine Defendants’ exhibits nowowld strip summary judgment of
“[o]ne of its principal purpass... to isolate and disposefattually unsupported claims or
defenses.”Celotex Corp.477 U.S. at 323-34.

Because the Court will considdre Defendants’ medical rects without a certificate of
authenticity, their request to correbhem and add that certificateDENIED AS MOOT .

Il. Defendants’ Motion for Summary Judgment

Defendants seek summary judgment on all tbfédr. Parks’s claims. First, Mr. Parks
claims that Dr. Blanchette was deliberatelgiiferent to his medicaheeds in denying him
treatment for his HIV/AIDS and Hepatitis @&m. Compl. {1 74-76, ECF No. 146. Second, he
claims that all three Defendantetaliated against him for filing grievances and otherwise
complaining about both the lack of medical treamt he received and the frequency with which
he was moved to different celdsd different facilities.d. 1 77-82. He contends that the
retaliatory actions Defendants took against himsisted of frequent transfers, both within and
among DOC facilities, further denials of agate medical treatment for his Hepatitis C
condition, and a prohibition on him filing grievaes. Pl.’s Opp. Br. 29, ECF No. 232. Finally,

Mr. Parks claims that Defendants Dzurendd Blurphy failed to reasonably accommodate his



HIV/AIDS as a disability when they contindienoving him from cell to cell frequently, in
violation of the Americans with Disdities Act of 1990 (“ADA"), 42 U.S.C. 81213&t seq.and
the Rehabilitation Act, 29 U.S.C. 8791. 11 83-86. Mr. Parks makes the third claim against
Defendants Dzurenda and Murphy only and in tb#icial capacities, while all other claims are
made against all Defendantstiveir individual capacitiesld. 1 6-8.

For the reasons that follow, Defendants’ Summary Judgment Mot®RASNTED in its
entirety.

A. Background Fact$

Mr. Parks was incarcerated in the federakes for “over 20 years” prior to the facts
relevant to this lawsuitDefs.’ Local Rule 56(a)1 Stmf{ 42-43, ECF No. 219-1. On June 10,
2004, near the end of a federal prison sentéviceRarks was transfemldo the custody of the
DOC at MacDougall Walker Correctional Institti (“MWCI”), where he served the remainder
of his federal sentenced.; Ex. 9, Inmate Transfer History’5Mr. Parks was released on
October 6, 2004 but was readmitted into DOGtody nineteen days later, on October 25, 2004,
after being arrested for robbing a bank. Ddfscal Rule 56(a)1 Stmt. §{ 94-95, ECF No. 219-
1. Mr. Parks’s claims in this lawsuit are basedweants alleged to have occurred while he was
awaiting trial and servimhis sentence for these charged the resulting conviction.

Defendant James Dzurenda served as the warden at Garner Correctional Institution
(“Garner”) from April 2005 through July 2009, wte Mr. Parks was incarcerated at various

times from 2006 to 2008. Ex. 7, Dzurenda Aff. €&; 9, Inmate Transfer History 4. Defendant

“ All facts in this opinion derive from a review of thkeadings, Local Rule 56(a) Statents, briefs on the Motion
for Summary Judgment and associated exhibits, and certain relevant subsequent filings made byeboth parti
Unless noted otherwise, these facts are undisputed or the opposing party has not parytedritradictory
evidence in the record.

® In its citations, the Court does not indicate explicitly vakeexhibits were filed bthe Plaintiff or Defendants,
because Plaintiff’'s exhibits are letteredidmefendants’ exhibits are numbered.
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Peter J. Murphy served as warden at MVifGin April 2007 until December 2013, where Mr.
Parks was also incarceratedratious times from 2004 to 2010. Ex. 17, Murphy Aff. 1 4; Ex. 9,
Inmate Transfer History 4-5.

Defendant Dr. Edward A. Blanchette trehtdr. Parks, while he was in DOC custody
and held three different roles retent to Mr. Parks’s treatment. r&i, Dr. Blanchette served as
the Director of Clinical and Pregsional Services Division ofddlth Services of the DOC from
May 1995 to June 2010. Defs.’ Local Rule 56(a)1 Stmt. § 7, ECF No. 219-1. In this position,
Dr. Blanchette consulted on difficult medical easnd “oversaw the policies and procedures
governing medical issues, inclagdi those related to the camdareatment of patients with
Hepatitis C and HIV-AIDS.”Id. 11 9, 12-14. He also served on the University of Connecticut
("“UConn”) Medical Center Correctional Managed Health Care Hepatitis C Utilization Review
Board (“HepCURDB”), the body established to mes the care of all mates infected with
Hepatitis C.1d. 11 19-20. Finally, he served on fhee v. MeachurMonitoring Panel to
oversee the care of all HIV fients incarcerated by the DOQd.  17. While working for the
DOC, Dr. Blanchette also worked for UConn adraectious Disease specialist and ran evening
Infectious Disease Clinics for inmatesMiVCI and BridgeporCorrectional Centerld. T 15. It
was in all three of these capacities that DarBhette became familiar with Mr. Parks, as a

patient with HIV/AIDS andHepatitis C in DOC custody.

® Doe v. Meachuris a consent judgment setting forth requiremémtshe standard of ndécal care provided to HIV
positive inmates in DOC custody. The judgment set up an Agreement Monitoring Panel (“AMP”) of doctors to
monitor the implementation of the consent judgment. Ex. K, Consent Jud@oent, Meachum (In re Conn.

Prison Overcrowding and AIDS Casg§)vil No. H88-562, slip op. at 61 (D. Conn. Nov. 2, 1990). The consent
judgment also required that the DOC institute a “tickler system” to ensure that examinations and laboratory work for
HIV patients were scheduled and provided at regular interi@dlst 24. It also requires that a T cell profile
(including an absolute CD4 count) “shall be repeated tevigear [ Jor more often if #re is evidence of clinical
deterioration consistent with advancing HIV disease thieifinmate’s most recent T4 count was approaching a level
of which s/he would qualify... for a treatment that had not yet been offered. Once thert4atls below 200/mm

3, the T cell profile need not be egded unless medically appropriatéd. at 13-14. Finally and most importantly,
the decree requires DOC to offer HIVfésted inmates any druberapies that “are deteimed medically necessary

for him/her by the treating physician... incacdance with accégd professional standardd. at 28.
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In resolving Defendants’ summary judgmenotion, the Court first will address
objections Mr. Parks raises to feadants’ evidence offered imgport of their motion. It then
will address the Defendants’ qualified immunity defense, which is applicable to Mr. Parks’s
deliberate indifference and retaliation claims. As a practical matter, because they arise from two
relatively distinct sets of facts, the Court vtovide a statement of facts with respect to the
deliberate indifference claims and apply the law to the facts in this case on those claims. It will
then provide a separate statement of facts nggpect to the transfers, which pertain to Mr.
Parks'’s retaliation and ADA and Rabilitation Act claims andpply the law to those facts.

B. Standard

Courts must “grant summary judgmentthé movant shows that there is no genuine
dispute as to any material fact and the movaantgled to judgment as matter of law.” Fed.
R. Civ. P. 56(a). The moving gig carries the burden of demdrating that there is no genuine
material dispute of fact by citing “particular parts of materials the record.” Fed. R. Civ. P.
56(c)(1)(A); Carlton v. Mystic Transp., Inc202 F.3d 129, 133 (2d Cir. 2000A dispute

regarding a material fact is “‘geime if the evidence is such treateasonable jury could return a
verdict for the nonmoving party”” and materiaithe substantive law governing the case
identifies those facts as materidlilliams v. Utica Coll. Of Syracuse Univ53 F.3d 112, 116
(2d Cir. 2006) (quoting@tuart v. Am. Cyanamid Cd.58 F.3d 622, 626 (2d Cir. 1998)));
Bouboulis v. Transp. Workers Union of Add2 F.3d 55, 59 (2d Cir. 2006) (citidgnderson v.
Liberty Lobby, InG.477 U.S. 242, 248 (1986)).

In assessing a summary judgment mottbe, Court must resolve all ambiguities,

including credibility questions, and draw all infeces from the record as a whole in favor of the

non-moving party.Kaytor v. Elec. Boat Corp609 F.3d 537, 546 (2d Cir. 2018ge also



Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co., Ltd. v. Zenith Radio Gatp5 U.S. 574, 587 (1986). “Only when
reasonable minds could not differtaghe import of the evidee is summary judgment proper.”
Bryant v. Maffucgi923 F.2d 979, 982 (2d Cir. 1991).

C. Mr. Parks’s Objections to Defendants’ Supporting Evidence

Before addressing the merits of the Deferidamotion, the Court must resolve certain
evidentiary disputes. Mr. Parkbjects to aspects of the egitte Defendants rely on to support
their Motion for Summary Judgment. He argtlest, without this evidence, Defendants have
not carried their burden, and tlsatmmary judgment “should be dedifor this reason alone.”
Pl.’s Opp. Br. 43-48, ECF No. 232. Mr. Parks nsteo objections: (1) that the affidavits
supporting the Defendants’ motion are imperly caveated and not based on personal
knowledge; and (2) that Dr. Blanchette’s &vd Lazrove’s testimony is inappropriately
presented as expert testimony in certain pogiof the motion and & their affidavits
inappropriately incorporatinadmissible hearsay. For the doling reasons, the Court finds that
none of these claimed deficiencies resulta gdenial of Defendants’ Motion for Summary
Judgment.

1. Affidavits Not Based on Personal Knowledge

Defendants’ affidavits were all sworn eithéw the best of [the person’s] knowledge,
information, and belief” or “to the Iseof [his] knowledge and belief.See e.gEx. 4,
Dieckhaus Aff., ECF M. 219-6; Ex. 1, Wu Aff., ECF N@19-3. Mr. Parks argued in his
summary judgment opposition that these phrasesdatidstablish that the affidavits were based
on “personal knowledge,” as required by Rulech@(). Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c)(4). For the

reasons set forth in its May 1, 2015 Order,@loairt agreed with Mr. Parks and, under Rule



56(e)(1), ordered Defendants’ $abmit revised affidavits bas®n personal knowledge. Order
Regarding Defs.” Mot. fosBumm. J., ECF No. 254.

Defendants submitted these revised affitaon June 1, 2015. Revised Affs., ECF No.
256. The submissions contain additional affitkafriom each witness adopting their earlier
affidavits and attesting th#tte statements within them were based “entirely upon personal
knowledge.” See e.gLazrove Aff. 5, ECF No. 256-4. Theadditional affidavits were sworn
“to the best of my personal knowledgeSee e.g., id.

Mr. Parks argues that these revised affidado not suffice because the jurat of the
additional affidavit uses “non-committal” langge, namely the phrase “to the best of my
knowledge.” Pl.’s Opp. To Defs.’s Mot. to Cect 1 n.1, ECF No. 257. The Court disagrees.
The affidavits themselves unequivocally state thatprevious affidavits were made “entirely
upon personal knowledge.” Moreay the jurat of the additiohaffidavit is sufficient to
indicate it was made based on personal knowledge for Rule 56 purgese€olon v. Coughlin
58 F.3d 865, 872 (2d Cir. 1995) (finding that aified complaint sworn “to the best of
[plaintiff’'s] knowledge,” which was construed as affidavit in the summary judgment context,
was sufficient to raise genuine questions ofenal fact and withstind Defendants’ summary
judgment motion). The Court, therefore, canmheny Defendants’ motion on this basis.

2. Objections to Affidavits Submitted by Dr. Blanchette and Dr. Lazrove

Mr. Parks also objects to portions of DraBthette and Dr. Lazrove’s affidavits in
which, he argues, the two doctamappropriately testify as exgps or rely on hearsay. He
contends that they cannot tegtis experts because they weot properly disclosed and asks
that, as a result, their entire affivits be stricken under Federall®of Civil Procedure 37(c)(1).

Pl.’s Opp. Br. 44, ECF No. 232; PI.’s Lodalle 56(a)2 Stmt. {1 53, 58, 85, 100-03, 105-06,
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330-33, 362-63, 396, 399-414, ECF No. 234. Mr. Parks e Court to lint the testimony of
these doctors to the “four corners” of the ndhes/ took during their seissis with Mr. Parks.
Pl.’s Local Rule 56(a)2 8tt. 330, ECF No. 234.

Mr. Parks also objects to portions of Btanchette and Lazrove’s affidavits that
“interpret notes from the medical record or tgsé$ to facts and events of what occurred during
medical visits to which they were not wisse” Pl.’s Opp. Br. 47, ECF No. 232. In his view,
these portions of the affidaviégse inadmissible hearsay and canm®tonsidered by this Court
as support for the summary judgment motitsh. While the Court finds some of Mr. Parks’
evidentiary concerns meritorious, as furtheplaied below, excluding these portions of the
record does not result indeenial of summary judgment.

a. Expert Testimony from Fact Witnesses

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 37(c)(1ppides that, “[i]f a p&y fails to provide
information or identify a witness as required byldd26(a) or (e) [the former includes expert
witnesses], the party is not allowed to use thitrmation or witness to supply evidence on a
motion... unless the failure was substantially jiestifor is harmless.” Unless disclosed as an
expert, treating physicians are limited tatifggg about what they learned from their
“consultation, examination, and treatment of the mI#ij ‘not from information acquired from
outside source8 Barack v. Am. Honda Motor Co., In@93 F.R.D. 106, 109 (D. Conn. 2013)
(emphasis in original) (citation omittedee also Ordon v. Karpi@23 F.R.D. 33, 36 (D. Conn.
2004) (finding that a doctor who planned to testify about “faetgond the scope of those made
known to him in the course of the care amhtment of the patient” must submit an expert

report, per Rule 26, to provide that testimony).
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However, theBarackcase does not indicate that theating physician cannot testify
about opinion at all, only th&éhe opinion he or she testifies about must have been established
during his or her treatment of the patieBarack 293 F.R.D. at 109 (“[T]reating physicians
‘cannot be limited to solely factual testimonyichthey ‘may testify as to opinions formed during
their treatment.’) (ttation omitted). A treating physiaiés testimony is also not limited
exclusively to the content ofor her notes, but rather torpenal knowledge from consultation,
examination, and treatment of the plaintifnderson v. Eastern CT Health Network, JiNo.
3:12-cv-785, 2013 WL 5308269, at *2 (Dofn. Sept. 20, 2013) (citations omitted).
Accordingly, a treating doct@ testimony may not include any information obtained from
outside sources, nor can he opameany medical reports or opinions received from other
doctors. Id.

Mr. Parks has provided no support for why thereraffidavits of Dr. Blanchette and Dr.
Lazrove should be struck, as he does not argug¢htbmtentire affidaviteonsist of inappropriate
expert testimony. Thus, the Cowrill analyze the specific portiors the affidavits that Mr.

Parks argues contain inappropei@xpert testimony and detana whether each of these
disposes of the entire summary judgment motion.

In paragraphs 53, 58, and 85 of Defendalné€’al Rule 56(a)l Statement, Defendants
cite to Dr. Blanchette’s Aftlavit regarding the general negiand use of the drugs Klonopin,
Xanax, and Buspar. In paragraphs 400 to 414e06#me document, Defendants also cite to Dr.
Lazrove’s Affidavit as support for various concluss about the nature of anti-social personality
disorder. Mr. Parks is correct that this testiy is inappropriate for a treating physician. These
general opinions were not obtained through the course of treating Mr. Parks. Accordingly, the

Court will not consider them.
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In paragraphs 100 to 103 and 105 to 10beflendants’ Local Rule 56(a)1 Statement,
Defendants cite Dr. Blanchette’s Affidavit sispport of the allegatiorthat Mr. Parks was
prescribed Motrin as well as to make some gdrstadements about thetnee of Hepatitis C.
Only paragraphs 100 and 102 relate to Dr. Blettef's diagnosis and treatment of Mr. Parks,
thus the Court can consider them. ParalgsalO1, 103, 105, and 106 are inappropriate expert
testimony, because they opine on the general@atuHepatitis C and its symptoms in an
abstract way, rather than with respect to Rlrks. Accordingly, the Court will not consider
these four paragraphs.

In paragraph 330 of Defendant’s Local Ra&a)l Statement, Defendants cite to Dr.
Lazrove’s Affidavit to describbis approach to reviewing Mr. Ba&'’s records. In paragraphs
331 to 333 of the same document, Defendants citestaffidavit to summarize what he learned
from the medical records heviewed. In paragraph 362, Defemdscite to Dr. Lazgrove’s
Affidavit for the statement that, in his vieMr. Parks was either malingering or dependent on
Xanax. In paragraphs 363, 396 and 399 of the slooement, Defendants cite to Dr. Lazrove’s
Affidavit to explain his conclsion about Mr. Parks'sondition after his observing him. Since
all of this testimony is related to Dr. Lazravéreatment of Mr. R&s, including his opinion
formed while treating Mr. Parks, it is appropeidestimony for a treating physician and will be
considered in evaluating the Defendants’ summary judgment motion.

In analyzing Mr. Parks’s objection, the Cohds memorialized itanalysis only on the
objections he explicitly raised his Local Rule 56(a)2 Stxhent. The Court, however,
appreciates that Drs. Lazrove and Blanchettemarexperts and has not considered any of their
testimony that is not based on their “consultateamination, and treatment of the Plaintiff’ in

resolving the summary judgment motioBarack,293 F.R.D. at 109.
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b. Hearsay

Mr. Parks also objects to portions of the Defents’ Local Rule 56(a)1 Statement that, in
his view, rely on inadmissible hearsay by citingiibier the affidavits of Drs. Blanchette or
Lazrove. Pl.’s Opp. Br. 47, ECF No. 232. “Rule 5¢f@vides that affidats in support of and
against summary judgment ‘shall $erth such facts as would lagimissible in evidencé
Raskin 125 F.3d at 66 (citations omitted and emphiasgiginal). On summary judgment, a
party may “object that the mataricited to support or dispugefact cannot be presented in a
form that would be admissible in evidence.” H&dCiv. P. 56(c)(2). But this provision of the
rule simply means that the evidence must be capable of presentation in admissible form at the
time of trial. Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(e). It does nequire that the materials be presented in an
admissible form on summary judgmei@ee Celotex Corp477 U.S. at 324&:raser, 342 F.3d at
1036.

The only specific objection Mr. Pes raises explicitly on thbasis of hearsay is to
paragraph 255 of Defendants’ Local Rule 56(agteshent. In that paragraph, Defendants cite
Dr. Blanchette’s Affidavit as evidence that NRarks informed Dr. Hair that he had taken his
Seroquel “just once in the past week.” Thisestant comes from Mr. Parks’s medical records.
Ex. 25, Clinical Record Notefated 7/6/2006, 169 (“I haven[{aken the Seroquel but once in
the past week.™) Even if this statement eahsay, the Court is able tonsider it because it
could be presented in admissible form at triapbgsenting the medical record which contains it.
SeeFed. R. Evid. 803(6). Accordingly, the Court will consider it.

Otherwise, Mr. Parks has not identified any jgatar paragraphs of the witness affidavits

that he objects to as hearsay the extent that the Defendahtsve provided affidavits from

" As discussed in footnote 2 above, this statement isralependently admissible asstatement made for medical
diagnosis. Fed. R. Evid. 803(4),
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witnesses that quote or sumnzarthe contents of Mr. Parksisedical records, the Court can
and will consider the factual statements thekenaecause they may be presented in admissible
form at trial, namely by introducing the medi records and/or by calling the witnesses to
testify. In addition, statem&nmade for the purpose of obtaining a medical diagnosis are
independently admissible under Federal Rule afi&we 803(4). To the extent that there are
hearsay statements in the Defendants’ witnH#&tagits that cannot bpresented in admissible
form at trial, the Court has nobnsidered them.
3. Conclusion

In light of the foregoing, the Court findlsat the Defendant#/otion for Summary
Judgment is not so unsupported by admissibleeené that it must be denied outright. The
Court will consider the motion butill remain mindful that it cannot rely on inappropriate expert
testimony or evidence thatrmaot be presented in admissible forntrei. Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(e).

D. Qualified Immunity

Defendants argue that they are entitledualified immunity for the retaliation and
deliberate indifference claifisbecause the rights at issue were not sufficiently clearly
established at the time the Defendants aciafs.” Br. 32, ECF No. 219-2. “A government
official performing a discretionary function is etdd to qualified immunityprovided his or her
‘conduct does not violate clearly established statutory or constitutional rights of which a
reasonable person would have knownl&rmosen v. Smit®45 F.2d 547, 550 (2d Cir. 1991)
(citation omitted). In determining whether qualified immunitylegsp the Court must engage in

a “two-part inquiry: [determining 1] whethére facts shown malaut a violation of a

8 As mentioned above, this defense is limited to théiatitn and deliberate indifference claims, because qualified
immunity is only available in cas@ghere the plaintiff sues defendarn their individual capacitySee Rodriguez v.
Phillips, 66 F.3d 470, 482 (2d Cir. 1995) (noting that qualified immunity is unavailable in an official capacity
lawsuit).
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constitutional right anfR] whether the right at issue was clgaestablished at the time of the
defendant’s alleged misconductraravella v. Town of Wolcotb99 F.3d 129, 133 (2d Cir.
2010) (citingPearson v. Callaharb55 U.S. 223, 232 (2009))To be clearly established, “the
contours of the right must be sufficiently clélaat a reasonable offali would understand that
what he is doing vialtes that right.””1d. (citation omitted). If a defendant “has an objectively
reasonable belief that his actions are lawieljs entitled to qualified immunity.Spavone v.
New York State Dept. of Corr. Serv&l9 F.3d 127, 135 (2d Cir. 2013) (citation omitted).

Mr. Parks argues that an inmate’s rights to be free from retaliatory transfer, retaliatory
denial of adequate medical treatment, and retajiatenial of access to the grievance process, as
well as from deliberate indifference to seriougdioal needs, were well-established at the time
the Defendants acted. Pl.’s Opp. B8, ECF No. 232. The Court agrees.

While inmates do not have a liberty inter@stemaining at a pécular correctional
facility, it was well-established before 2006 that @nisuthorities could notansfer an inmate in
retaliation for the exercise obnstitutionally protected rightsSee Meriwether v. Coughli879
F.2d 1037, 1046 (2d Cir. 1989) (noting that priséfitials cannot transfer inmates “solely in
retaliation for the exercise obnstitutional rights”). As moraully discussed below, filing of
grievances and lawsuits were also clearly emstaddl constitutionally pretted activities at the
time. See Gill v. Pidlypchak389 F.3d 379, 384 (2d Cir. 2004) (these of the prison grievance
system” is a protected activitygspinal v. Goord558 F.3d 119, 128-29 (2d Cir. 2009) (filing a
lawsuit is a protected activity)it also was well-estabhgd before 2004 that deliberate

indifference to an inmate’s serious medical needenial of adequate medical treatment was not

° In Pearson the Supreme Court clarified that the district conaty decide in its discretion the order in which the
two prongs should be addressédtilton v. Wright 673 F.2d 120, 126-27 (2d Cir. 2012).
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constitutionally permittedSee Estelle v. Gamblé29 U.S. 97, 104 (1976)ge also Wright v.
Dee 54 F. Supp.2d 199, 204 (S.D.N.Y. 1999).

Because the Court finds that the rightssatie were well-established at the time they
were allegedly violated, it aldinds that the question of quaditl immunity turns on whether it
was objectively reasonable for Defendants tieele that their conduct did not violate Mr.
Parks’s rights. This inquiry ithe same one the Court must urtdlke in evaluing Defendants’
summary judgment motiorSee Salahuddin v. Goqrd67 F.3d 263, 273 (2d Cir. 2006) (noting,
in the deliberate indifference context, tha thsue of whether there was a constitutional
violation for qualified immunity analysis the same the court undakes in assessing a
summary judgment motionJphnson v. Ganin842 F.3d 105, 117 (2d Cir. 2003) (noting that
the question of whether the defendant’s actiwese objectively reasonabbverlapped with the
“ultimate question” of whether defendant actathva retaliatory motivefcitation omitted).
Accordingly, qualified immunity is not dsitive of any issue in this case.

E. Statement of Facts Regarding Deliberate Indifference Claims

Mr. Parks contracted the HIV virus and HepatC at some point prior to 1991, when he
tested positive for both illnesses. Defs.chbRule 56(a)l Stmt. § 33, ECF No. 219-1; Ex. C,
Parks Decl., 11 4, 8. The HIV virus “affects thranune status of the infected patient” and
causes “progressive loss of CD4-positive lymphesy ] known as T-4 cells or T-helper cells[
].” Ex. 4, Dieckhaus Aff. 121-23. These calle “important mediat[s] of the immune
system” and their loss leads to “gressive immune deficienciesld. 124. Both sides agree
that, if a patient deveps a T4/CD4 level of less than 200 amdé diagnosed with certain types
of illnesses, he or she is considered to have AIlDSY 27;see alsdx. B, Edlin Decl. 1116, 26.

Hepatitis C is a viral disease that causes “infteation and progressive fitsis [or scarring] of
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the liver,” and which can result figirrhosis, liver failure, liver carer, and death.” Ex. B, Edlin
Decl. 37;see als&x. 1, Wu Aff. 8 (noting that Hepais C “usually results in slowly
progressive liver damage” which about 30% of cases results‘severe scaring or cirrhosis,
and liver failure.”). Mr. Parksamight treatment for both his HIV/AID%and Hepatitis C while
in DOC custody.
1. Medical Treatment for HIV/ AIDS by Dr. Blanchette

Mr. Parks first met Dr. Blanchette in JuR@04 at the Infectious Disease Clinic at
MWOCI. Defs.’ Local Rule 56(a)1 Stmt. § 31, EGlo. 219-1. At the time, Mr. Parks was on a
Highly Active Antiretroviral Therapy regimenKfAART”) and was taking the anti-retroviral
medications (“ARVsS”) Trizivir andSustiva to treat his HIV/AIDSId. 1 34-35; Ex. C, Parks
Decl. 1 13. These medications forestall repiccaof the HIV virus for a sustained period of
time, if taken regularly. Defs.’ Local Ruk6(a)l Stmt. 1 495-501, ECF No. 219-1. Other than
during a brief period in August 2004 that is mabissue in thisase, it is undisputétthat Dr.
Blanchette continued to presaidRV medications for Mr. Parlafter this initial meeting and
until he was discharged from DOC custody irtdber 2004. Defs.’ Local Rule 56(a)1 Stmt. 1

62, 75, ECF No. 219-1; Pl.’s Local Rule 56(a)2 Stmt. 11 61, 71, 75, ECF No. 234, Ex. 25,

1 The parties take different positions on the nature offdrks’ HIV/AIDS illness. Mr. Parks contends that he has
AIDS, whereas Defendants characterize Mr. Parks ag bW positive. The dispute centers on a 1990 medical
diagnosis of pneumocystis carinii pneumonia, which DOC’s medical records indicate did occilyrinfectious
Disease Problem Report, DEF_000013. Supported by his medical expert, Dr. Brian Ediarkdrclaims that the
diagnosis of this disease, when taken in conjunction listhdlV positive status, indicated that he had AIDS during
the relevant time period. Ex. B, Dr. Edlin Decl. 1 26;HLocal Rule 56(a)2 Stmt. 1 108, ECF No. 234. At oral
argument, Defendants did not dispute that the pneundéagaosis occurred. Moreover, Defendants’ own expert,
Dr. Kevin Dieckhaus, opined that Mr. Parks had AIDS based on his prior history. Ex. D, Dieckhau®:D&p. 8
83:5, 100:2; Ex. 4, Dieckhaus Aff. § 27 (“A CD4 level of less than 200, and/or the presenesobieveral CDC-
defined infections and malignancies, indicates a label of AIDS.”) (internal quotation marks omitted). Disfenda
also do not cite any record evidengdicating that Mr. Parks does not have AIDS. Thus, the Court concludes that it
is an undisputed fact that Mr. Parks BBS and will refer to his infection as ‘IM/AIDS” throughout this opinion.

" The parties dispute whether Dr. Blanchette told Mr. Parks to only take his ARVswebry hours (which
resulted in him refusing them becatisey were administered every 8 houssyd why Dr. Blanchette refused to
prescribe Klonopin to Mr. Parks. Pl.’s Local Rule 56(a)2 Stmt. 1 32, 52-53, 61, ECBA&X2 25, Clinical
Record Notes dated 7/12/2004, 066timpthat Mr. Parks said he stoppad HIV medications because they
brought the medication at different times).
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Physician’s Orders dated 9/20/04, 0079 (intingathat ARV medications were among his
“discharge” medications}f
When Mr. Parks re-entered DOC custody onoDer 26, 2004, Dr. Blanchette prescribed
him the same ARVs he had been taking earli¢henyear. Defs.’ LocdRule 56(a)l Stmt. 1 98,
ECF No. 219-1. However, on July 12, 200%, Blanchette discontinued Mr. Parks’s
prescriptions for the ARVsld. 1 137. According to Mr. Parks, Dr. Blanchette told him he
would only be stopping his medicai for sixty days, with the pmise of beginning treatment
for Hepatitis C after this sixty-day period. Ex.Rarks Decl. { 30. Dr. Blanchette contends he
stopped the medication for an indefinite periodimie because he believed Mr. Parks did not
need it and noted in his July 22005 Clinical Record notes that the patient consistently had
“excellent” T4 counts and Viral Load Assaydahat he “may do very well off all ARV.”
Defs.’ Local Rule 56(a)l Stmt. || 127, 129-30, 132-36, 141-42, ECF No. 219-1; Ex. J, Clinical
Record Notes dated 7/12/2005, DEF_001282. Dr.dBlatte also believed that Mr. Parks took
the pills irregularly, whib Mr. Parks disputedd.; see e.g.Pl.’s Local Rule 56(a)(2) Stmt.
19177-78, 127, ECF No. 234r. Blanchette’s Clinical Recondotes indicate that “after a
prolonged discussion, the [patiedifl finally agree to try sfaping all ARVs to see if he
maintains reasonable parameters.” Ex.lihi€al Record Notes dated 7/12/2005, DEF_001282.
Dr. Blanchette met with Mr. Parks on December 1, 2005, January 5, 2006, and April 4,

2006 and did not reinstate his ARV digations at any of these apptihents. Defs.’ Local Rule

12 According to Defendants, Dr. Blanchette stopped the ARVs in August 2004 because he was cormdévined th
Parks had been taking them “intermittently, theriloyeasing the likelihood afreating resistance to the
medications.” Defs.’ Local Rule 56(a)1 Stmt. q 76, ECF No. 219-1. Mr. Parks asserts that hetatopgéils
medication either because it was delivaregnproper time interals or because he was following the advice of his
prior physician, Dr. GittzusSee e.gPl.’s Local Rule 56(a)2 Stmt. { 71, EGI6. 234. Mr. Park indicates that he
began taking medication, “AZT,” for §iHIV/AIDS in the 1990s and was treated by Dr. Gittzus at UConn'’s “IDS”
during this time. Ex. C, Parks Decl. 1 9-10. He ntitasas part of this course of treatment, Dr. Gittzus
recommended that “every six to nine months” that he stop taking his ARVs “for a short peine @fd more than
30 days)” to avoid developing a “resistance” to the medicatigrf] 11.
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56(a)l Stmt. 1 166, 198-206, 217-18, ECF No. 21®uring this time, Mr. Parks made
numerous complaints and requests to have hig ARdication restarted. Ex. C, Parks Decl. 11
43-44, 51-52, 55-56, 61, 64-73, 76.

Mr. Parks did not begin taking his ARVs again until April 24, 2006, when he met with a
different doctor at Garner, DO’Halloran, who re-prescribed them. Defs.’ Local Rule 56(a)l
Stmt. 1 247-50, ECF No. 219-1. In re-prdsag the medication, Dr. O’Halloran’s notes
indicate that Mr. Parks’s CD4 count was 867 [therefore] well abov850 [therefore] did not
meet criteria for RX based aurrent guidelines.” Ex. 25,l@ical Record Notes dated
4/24/2006, 158" Despite this observation, Dr. O’Halém chose to presbe Mr. Parks the
ARV medication. Id.

During the nearly ten-month period when.Narks was not taking his ARV medication,
he suffered “increasing levetd viral replication” and a decrease in his CD4 count. Pl.’s
Counterstmt. § 7, ECF No. 234. To understandstiatement, the Court must briefly describe
the indicators monitored in the blood testmducted by DOC. In monitoring Mr. Parks’s

HIV/AIDS status, the doctors #te DOC relied on three indicatorkirst, they relied on the T4

13 Mr. Parks filed an inmate request form on October 9, 2005 noting that he was in “Rhlid8king for his HIV
medication. Ex. C, Ex. 1, Inmate Request Form dated 10/9/2005 at 003971. He aqpdineal on November 12,
2005 of “PAIN,” outbreaks of thrush, and his climbing viral load. Ex. C, Ex. 3,tmmRaquest Form dated
11/12/2005 at 003975-76. On November 13, 2005, in an inmate request form, Mr. Palesnsahthat he had not
received his HIV medication and noted hritsh attack.” Ex. C, Ex. 2, InmaRequest Form dated 11/13/2005 at
0107. On December 6, 2005, Mr. Parks filed an inmegaest form asking for HIV treatment and complaining that
he did not see Dr. Blanchette regularly or have his bieste&d for HIV activity regularly. Ex. C, Ex. 4, Inmate
Request Form dated 12/6/2005 at 0116-20. Mr. Parks again requested his ARV medieatiomiate request

form on February 28, 2006. Ex. C, Ex. 5, Inmate Request Form dated 2/28/2006 at DEF_001618. Mr. Parks also
complained on March 24, 2006 that he was in pain and not on his ARV medication. Ex. C, Ex. 6Rennats
Form dated 3/24/2006 at DEF_001616-Finally, Mr. Parks reached outaahird party regarding the lack of
treatment for his HIV/AIDS, and she wrote a letter datedc&8, 2006 to Wanda White-Lewis, Director of Field
Services at MWCI. Ex. C, Ex. 7, Letter dated 3/28/2006 at DEF_001610.

4 The experts for both sides indicate that the prevagjiridelines at the time applicable to HIV/AIDS were
published by the Department of Health and Human Services in April 2005. Ex. 4, DieckhduS@$ee also
e.g.,Ex. B, Edlin Decl. 117 (relying on the same guidelines). These guidelines were sulmtiiec€ourt by Mr.
Parks's expert. Pl.’s Ex. B, Edlin Decl. and Exhibits, Dgpant of Health and Huma®ervices, Guidelines for the
Use of Antiretroviral Agents in HIV-1-Infectefidults and Adolescents, dated April 7, 2005.
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Count, also known as CD4 count, which indicdtes many “T-cells” or “T-helper cells” exist
in a patient’s body. Defs.’ Local Rule 56(&8fimt. 1 45, 47, ECF No. 219-1. These T-cells are
the primary targets of the HIMd.  46. The count indicates hanany T4 or CD4 cells are
present in a microliter of bloodd. § 47. Second, the doctomoked at the CD4 percentage,
which represents the percentage of the “lyngyt® population that is” positive for T4 or CD4
cells. 1d. 148. According to a set ¢flV/AIDS Guidelines pubshed by the Department of
Health and Human Services and submitted byRdairks (the “HIV/AIDS Guidelines”), which
both sides agree are applicable, this facttussally the most important consideration in
decisions to initiate antiretroal therapy.” Pl.’s Ex. B, Dgartment of Health and Human
Services, Guidelines for the Use of Antiretral Agents in HIV-1-Infected Adults and
Adolescents, dated April 7, 2005 at 4 [meafter the “HIV/AIDS Guidelines”]see alsd&x. 4,
Dieckhaus Aff. 156; Ex. B, Edlin Decl. 11The higher the T4/CD4 count, the stronger the
patient’s immune system. Defkocal Rule 56(a)1 Stmt. %0, ECF No. 219-1. Third, the Viral
Load Assay “indicates the number of copies bifARper milliliter of plasma” and represents the
“best indicator of the level of M activity in the patient’s body.ld. 1 66-67. The higher the
Viral Load, the more severe the HIV infectioll.  68.

The below chart lists Mr. Parks’s indicatioms these three metrics over time that were

discussed by the parties in thelinfys, none of which are undisputed.

Date of Test> T4 Count CD4 Percentage Viral Load Assay

6/1/2004 932 37% None because the
blood sample

Defs.’ Local Rule submitted to run the

56(a)l Stmt. 1 44, test was “not

65. sufficient.”

15 Unless otherwise indicated, the citation(s) in the date column is/are the source for all information in the following
rows.
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6/15/2004

Defs.’ Local Rule
56(a)l Stmt. 7 110;
Ex. J, Infectious
Disease Problem
Report at

DEF 000011.

768 -- < 400 copies/ml

10/26/2004

Defs.’ Local Rule
56(a)l Stmt. 7 111;
Ex. J, Infectious
Disease Problem
Report at

DEF 000011.

-- - <400copies/ml

6/14/2005

Defs.’ Local Rule
56(a)l Stmt. 1 125;
Ex J, Infectious
Disease Problem

779 40.2% 10@opies/ml

Report at

DEF _000011.

7/12/2005 On July 12, 2005, Dr. Blanchette disdinued Mr. Parks’s prescriptior
for his ARVs. Defs.’ Local Rule 56(a)l Stmt. § 137.

9/5/2005 Viral Load and T-Cell Profile sahded for this date but did not occur

until October 20, 2005. Defs.’ Local Rule 56(a)1 Stmt. §{ 139-40.

10/20/2005 (conveye
to Mr. Parks on
12/1/2005)

Defs.’ Local Rule
56(a)l Stmt. 1 170;
Ex. J, Infectious
Disease Problem
Report at

DEF 000011.

1712 24.5% 15,0060pies/ml

12/5/2005

Viral Load and T-Cell Profile scheed for this date but did not occur

until December 16, 2005. Defs.’ Local Rule 56(a)1 Stmt. 1139-4Q.
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12/16/2005

Defs.’ Local Rule
56(a)l Stmt. 9195-
96; Ex. J, Infectious
Disease Problem

623 33.9% 22,5000pies/ml

Report at

DEF_000011.

February 2006 Test for Viral Load was schedulédt did not occur until April, when
the test for CD4 had been schedul&gfs.’ Local Rule 56(a)1 Stmit.
19185-86.

4/4/2006 567 28.7% 93,500 copies/ml

Defs.’ Local Rule
56(a)l Stmt. 19227-
28; Ex. J, Infectious
Disease Problem
Report at

DEF _000011; Ex. 25,
Daily Report dated
4/4-5/2006 at 0148.

4/24/2006 Dr. O’Halloran begins ARV treatment. Defs.’ Local Rule 56(a)l S
1250.
6/12/2006 814 N/A <400copies/ml

Ex. J, Infectious
Disease Problem
Report at

DEF 000011.

As the chart shows, when Mr. Parks stoptadhg his ARVS, his T4/CD4 Count decreased

mt.

from 779 to a low of 567. His Viral Load Assalgo increased during the same period from 100

to a high of 93,500 copies per ml. Wherrégumed the medication, his Viral Load Assay

declined to under 400 copies per ml two months later and stayed under 50 copies per ml for the

next several months. Ex. 25féitious Disease Problem Report, 56. His T4/CD4 count also

rose to 814 after he resumed treatment.

During the time he was not taking his ARVs,.Narks also claims that he experienced a

“significant increase” in the riskf opportunistic disease and dagaao the immune system that
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would have been prevented had he continued to receive his HIV/AIDS medications. Pl's
Counterstmt. § 7, ECF No. 234 (citing Ex. B, Bdlin Decl. § 32, ECF No. 233-1). Mr. Parks
also contends that the factatthe had both HIV/AIDS and Hejiizs C increased his need for
ARV treatment.ld. 11 5-6. Defendants admits that patsewho have a lower CD4 count are at
a higher risk for opportunistic illness. Defsdcal Rule 56(a)1 Stmt. 484, ECF No. 219-1; EX.
4, Dieckhaus Aff. §27.

Mr. Parks claims that not taking his AR¥aused him to suffer “physical ailments,
including thrush, diarrheand night sweats” and has peeted evidence from his own
recollections and his medicadcords supporting this contemti Pl.’s Counterstmt. § 8, ECF
No. 234;seeEx. C Parks Decl. 11 45, 51, 55, 65; Ex. J, Clinical Record notes dated 1/18/2006,
1/22/2006, 1/25/2006, DEF_1652-53 (motiMr. Parks had diarrhigeEx. D Dieckhaus Dep.
101:7-9, 106:9-11 (noting that Mr. Parks complainéthrush and that a nurse saw two small
white patches on December 9, 2005 which Defersdanpert, Dr. Kevin Dieckhaus, believed
could have been thrush); Ex. ZHjnical Record Notes dated 2205, 113 (noting that Mr. Parks
was complaining of thrush and noting the observafi¢2 small white patches” at 8:40 am); Ex.
B, Edlin Decl. 135 (noting that “Mr. Parks’s dieal records document that he suffered physical
ailments, including thrush, didea, and night sweats, duritige time he was denied his
antiretroviral medications.”); Ex. 25, ClinicRlecord Notes dated 4/3/2006, 149 (noting Mr.

Parks complaining about thrush and sot@s).

6 On January 5, 2006, Dr. Blanchette noted that Mr.Paoknplained of thrush that day and that he failed to

observe any. Ex. 25, Clinical Record Notes dated 1/5/2006, 133. Otherwise, the Court has not found any indication
in the medical records that Dr. Blamtte examined Mr. Parks while he was complaining of physical symptoms and

did not observe those symptoms. Dr. Blanchette testti@che recalls Mr. Parks’s complaints of diarrhea and

thrush but does not recall any complaints of night sweat®kvated temperatures. Ex. E, Blanchette Dep. 92:7-

17.
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Finally, Mr. Parks also claimtat the denial of his HIV/AIDS treatment exacerbated his
“anxiety and other health issues,” which nfasied in physical symptoms “including night
sweats, diarrhea and thrush.” Pl.’s Countets{ 19, ECF No. 234; Ex. C, Parks Decl. 1 66, 77
(“I was upset that | had been experiencingél®gnptoms and anxious because | was not on my
HIV meds... | was extremely upset and worrikdt my viral loads had gotten so highsge
also e.g.Ex. 25, Clinical Record Notes at 102 (astyi, fear and tensh observed on 8/21/2005),
at 108 (“agitation” observed on 11/23/2005)138 (describing Mr. Parks’s “major focus” on
1/5/2006 was to be placed back on ARVs and noting fears about increasing T4 and Viral Load
counts).

2. Mr. Parks’s Treatment for Hepatitis C

The treatment Mr. Parks sought for his H&EaC was known akterferon, which is
administered typically over a twelve-montlripd. Defs.’ Local Rule 56(a)1 Stmt. 232, 288,
305, ECF No. 219-1. To receive this treatmeghile in DOC custody, Mr. Parks needed to
obtain approval of the HepCURB, a committeasisting of three board-certified infectious
disease specialisfsvho review and approve the requestsrefting doctors for diagnostic work
or treatment for inmates infected with péditis C. Ex. Q, UConn and DOC Hepatitis C
Management & Treatment, effective 12/10/2002 dtekrdinafter‘Hepatitis C Guidelines™;

Defs.” Local Rule 56(a)5tmt. § 21, ECF No. 219-1.

DOC policy sets out the following sequenceswénts to guide how treatment of an
inmate with Hepatitis C should proceed. Upastitey positive for the Hepatitis C virus, an
inmate first must undergo an initial evaluation by his primary care provider, which consists of

blood and liver function tests. Ex. Q, Hepat@i$suidelines 1-2. Thpolicy provides that the

" Dr. Blanchette testified that he, Diohn Gittzus, and Dr. Fred Altice werembers of the HepCURB. Ex. E,
Blanchette Dep. 13:3-8.
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primary care provider “shall withhold any refertalthe Infectious Riease Specialist (‘IDS’)

until court sessions have concluded and the offelnage been sentenced” and until two complete
blood count and two liver function tests spaaéetbast 6 months agdare available and
consistent with active liver diseasdd. at 2. Once a case is rafed to an IDS, he should
evaluate the individual for pemtial Hepatitis C treatment, mducting a series of tests to
determine the suitability dhe treatment, including a mental health assessnénat 2-5. A
psychiatrist must conduct the mertalalth assessment, if the patientlassified as a level 3 in
mental health or highedd. at 4. “If the results of the mentaéalth assessment do not indicate
any increased psychologicalkjghe IDS may then initiateraferral” to the HepCURB to

request treatmentd. at 4.

In deciding whether an inmate may recemeatment, the HepCURB reviews various
forms submitted with each request, including a @dmalth screening drany written opinions
provided by a psychiatristd. at 5. It is undisputed that tiieeatment for Hepatitis C Plaintiff
sought, Interferon, was known to have neuropsyhbiside effects, including “depression, and,
in rare cases suicide.” Defs.’ Local Rule ®3d(Stmt. 1180, ECF No. 219-Ex. B, Edlin Decl.
148. DOC policy notes that “[ijn genérthe HepCURB will follow the specific
recommendations of the Center for Disease @b(EDC) and the National Institute of Health
(NIH) regarding Hepatitis C management and tresait currently in force at the time of the
offender review.” EX. Q, Hepatitis C Guidelinks It also notes that “[tihe HepCURB will not
generally approve Hepatitis C therapy unless there is a reasonable likelihood that the offender
will remain under CDOC supervision for thatire duration of treatment periodid. at 6.

Protocol at the time prohibitexdpatient’s treating physicianoim participating in a vote

on his or her application for treatment. Defstcal Rule 56(a)l Stmt. 22, ECF No. 219-1. Dr.
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Blanchette attended and participated in the dsonghat occurred during all of the meetings in
which Mr. Parks’s readiness for Hepatitis C treattveas evaluated, as a sitting member of the
HepCURB at the timeSeeDefs.’ Local Rule 56(a)2 8it. 1239-41, ECF No. 219-1; Pl.’s
Local Rule 56(a)2 Stmt. 241, ECF No. 28d¢ alsd&x E, HepCURB Minutes dated
5/10/2006, 4/24/2007, 8/8/2007, 006143-44, 006147-51 (nttatdOr. Blanchette was present
at each of these meetings during which a vote orPdrks’s readiness for treatment was taken).
But, as will be described further below, Dr. Blaettk denies violating this protocol because he
did not vote on Mr. Parks’s readiss for treatment when he wadively treating him; he only
voted on Mr. Parks’s readiness for treatmetdrdie had stopped actly treating him.See

Defs.’ Local Rule 56(a)2 Stmt. {1239-41, EC#&.14919-1; Pl.’s Local Rule 56(a)2 Stmt. 1241,
ECF No. 234. Dr. Blanchettesal testified that the HepCURB votes were “almost always”
unanimous and that he does not recall an iestarhere the vote was not unanimous. EXx. E,
Blanchette Dep. 198:16-199:9, 211:4-17.

Mr. Parks claims that he first discussedregd for treatment for Heptatitis C during his
initial June 2004 meeting with DBlanchette. Ex. C, Parks Decl. { 17. Dr. Blanchette’s
Clinical Record notes from this visit do not menatizie this request or méon Hepatitis C. Ex.
25, Clinical Record Notes dated 6/21/2000@63. On November 4, 2004, while he was at
Bridgeport Correctional Center, Mr. Parks reporteat tie was in pain from Hepatitis C. Defs.’
Local Rule 56(a)1 Stmt. 199, ECF No. 21810n November 8, 2004, Mr. Parks met with Dr.
Blanchette and made a request for Hepatitis C treatnhdr{107, 113-16. According to the

Clinical Record notes from this visit, Dr. Blelmette explained to MParks the “Department of

18 Defendants question Plaintiff's credibility regarding piaén he complained of being related to Hepatitis C and
indicate that they believe it was related to his drug-seeking behavior. Defs.’ Local R)(@)68tmt. 11101-106,
ECF No. 219-1; see also Ex. E, Blanchette Dep. 89:7-%ih(nthat Hepatitis C is a “very asymptomatic disease”).
Given that Defendants’ Motion for Summary Judgment isregtee Court, all possible inferences will be drawn in
favor of the Plaintiff. See Kaytor v. Elec. Boat Cor609 F.3d 537, 546 (2d Cir. 2010)
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Correction protocol regarding igatitis C evaluation and treatmgnneaning that he could not

be treated until he was sentencédl. 113; Ex. J, Clinical Recd Notes dated 11/8/2004 at
DEF_001283. Dr. Blanchette’'s notes from timiseting indicate thdte understood that Mr.

Parks was “held on one half million dollar bond robbefyahnd that he “probably” had “chronic
active hepatitis.” Ex. E, Blanchette Dep. 58%24; Ex. J, Clinical Record Notes dated
11/8/2004 at DEF_001283. During the November 8, 2004 visit, Dr. Blanchette did not begin
the process, as laid out in the DOC policyex&mining Mr. Parks to assess his suitability for
Hepatitis C treatment; his notes indicate that he “will wait to see [patient] sentenced, then will
submit to UXC for liver [biopsy].” Ex. J, Clinical Record Notes dated 11/8/2004, DEF_001283;
Ex. E Blanchette Dep. 59:5-24 (inpeeting his November 8, 2004 notes).

On July 12, 2005, Dr. Blanchette reiterateat the would begin Mr. Parks on Hepatitis C
treatment as soon as he was sentenced..’Refsal Rule 56(a)1 Stmt. 144-45, ECF No. 219-
1; Ex. 25, Clinical Record Notes dated 7205 at 0101. After Mr. Parks began serving his
sentence in September 2005, Dr. Blanchettewite Mr. Parks on December 1, 2005 and began
the process of evaluating him for Interferogattment by having him fill out the Initial HCV
Functional Status Report and nefieg him for a Mental StatuSvaluation. Defs.’ Local Rule
56(a)l Stmt. 71 175, 181-84, ECF No. 219-1. Dr. Blatiels notes from this meeting reflect,
for the first time, concerns about the impact of Marks’s mental health on his ability to receive
treatment for Hepatitis Cld. 1176-80, 184Ex. 25, Clinical Record Notes dated 12/1/2005 at

0111 (“I am particularly concernexbout his mental status whiba [ Jinterferon as his bipolar

¥ Mr. Parks argues that this delay in his treatmentneagustified under the DOC policy, because the policy only
prohibits patients from being referred to IDS if they had not yet been sentenced and Mr. Parks ayaseseg

Dr. Blanchette, an IDS. Pl.’s Local 56(a)2 Stmt. 11 185EICF No. 234. Dr. Blanchette explained that the policy
prohibited the administration of Hepatitis C treatment befisiebecause a number of pre-trial patients “might have
problems with agitation and exacerbationtadir mental health issues” whicbuld impact their ability to defend
themselves.SeeEx. E, Blanchette Dep. 57:7-2%s will be explained in footnot20 below, because this conduct
occurred before September 2005, it is not a basis for his claim but rather factual background.
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disorder with depression + anyias not always well-controlled)” Despite the content of the
notes, Mr. Parks has denied that Dr. Blanchegationed any concern about mental health at
this meeting. Pl.’s Local RulS(a)2 Stmt. 1172, ECF No. 234.

On January 5, 2006, Dr. Blanchette met wWith Parks and reiterated that “his tenuous
mental health status, esp[ecidlys volatility, may be an issue.” Ex. 25, Clinical Record Notes
dated 1/5/2006, at 133; Def&ocal Rule 56(a)1 Stmt. 1198, 207-208 ECF No. 219-1; Ex.
25, Initial Evaluation of Hepatitis C Infectiatated 1/5/2006, 0130-31 (tvag under “significant
medical or psychological problems” that Mr.riahad “severe antisocial personality D/O,”
“schizo-affective D/O,” and “bipolar D/O”). @hsistent with this observation, the psychiatrist,
Dr. Lewis, met with Mr. Parks on Febru&§, 2006 and March 29, 2006 and noted that he had
“GAD, paranoia, hypomania, [and] anxiety” but observed that he'daasg well.” Defs.’

Local Rule 56(a)1 Stmf]{ 209-10, 214-216, ECF No. 219-1; %, Clinical Record Notes
dated 2/22/2006, 138.

Dr. Blanchette met with Mr. Parks on April 4, 2006. Defs.” Local Rule 56(a)l Stmt.
1217, ECF No. 219-1. The parties dispute the auttignéind, therefore, the admissibility of Dr.
Blanchette’s notes from that visit, which.Blanchette claims to have typed into a
memorandum. Pl.’s Local Rule 56(a)2 Stmt. 1219, ECF No. 234 (disputing the authenticity of
Clinical Record Notes dated April 4, 2006, avlaliéaat Ex. 25 at 0147). On April 6, 2004, Dr.
Lewis’s Clinical Record notes indicate that ffaient was requesting be on Interferon but that
he was “currently not a candidate for this protatahis time.” Ex. 25, Clinical Record Notes
dated 4/6/2014 at 0149; Defs.’ a§Stmt. 1232-33. Dr. Lewis mstthat she was referring Mr.

Parks to mental health housing and that onlcat“tondition is stabilize(f it is stabilized)
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formal assessment for Interferon [ ] be cortddc Ex. 25, Clinical Record Notes dated
4/6/2014 at 0149.

On April 10, 2006, Dr. Blanchette submitted his recommendation to the HepCURB that
Mr. Parks not receive Hepatitis C treatmentjouimoted that “[b]oth Dr. Blanchette & Dr.
Lewis/psychiatrist agree [patigng extremely poor candidaterfBiCV Rx.” EX. E, Treatment
Recommendation dated 4/10/2005 at 006083. Smd with this recommendation, Dr.
Blanchette testified in his deptien that he made this deasi because he believed Mr. Parks
needed to be “stabilized at Garner” befbeginning the Hepatitis C treatment. Ex. E,
Blanchette Dep. 138:15-139:22. He also noted thahaking the recommendation, he relied on
the conclusion of Dr. Lewis that Mr. Parks’sypBological state indicated he was not ready for
treatment.ld. The HepCURB denied Mr. Parks Hejtia C treatment on May 10, 2006, noting
that he had a “psychiatric coaindication” and suggesting thiie patient be monitored. Ex. E
at 4-5, Treatment Recommendsttidated 4/10/2005 at 006084-88g alsdEx. E at 6-7,
Minutes from HepCURB dated 5/10/2006, 006143-44 (noting with respect to Mr. Parks “[c]lear-
cut psychiatric contraindication to treant noted after ID & psych eval”).

Dr. Blanchette was a sitting member oa thepCURB when this initial treatment
decision was made, but he denies voting onRdairks’s application on May 10, 2006 because he
was Mr. Parks’s treating physician at the tini¥efs.” Local Rule 56{)1 Stmt. 1240, ECF No.
219-1;see alsEx. E, Blanchette Dep. 13:9-14:7. Mr.rRadoes not offer any evidence that Dr.
Blanchette voted at this partiemlmeeting. Dr. Blanchette altsstified that he was present and
participated in the discussion Miir. Parks that took place at this meeting, even though he did not

vote. Pl.’s Local Rule 56(a)Stmt. 240, ECF No. 234; EX. E, Blanchette Dep.196:10-20.
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On April 24, 2006, Mr. Parks met with Dr. O’Haran, who Mr. Parks claims indicated
at the time that he would recommend Mr. PddkHepatitis C treatment. Ex. C, Parks Decl.
11183-86. After this meeting, Dr. O’Halloranbsnitted a “Non-Formulary or Restricted Drug
Request” dated June 20, 2006 askhmt Mr. Parks receive Intenfon treatment. Ex. J, Non-
Formulary or Restricted Dg Request, DEF_001543. This request was denied on June 26, 2006,
because Mr. Parks had been “[tjurned down by Hep Cudb.”

Dr. O’Halloran submitted a request for @dr biopsy to the HepCURB on February 27,
2007, to assess Mr. Parks’s readiness for letent Ex. 25, UtilizatiofiReview Report dated
4/3/2007, 0189. In April 2007, the HepCURB met agaiconsider this request for treatment
and decided that “[i]n view of discrepancytlween prior and curremsychiatric eval, and
between current psych eval and functionalustaeport,” Mr. Parkshould receive a second
psychiatric evaluationld.; Ex. E, HepCURB Minutes dated 4/27/2007 at 006148. On August 3,
2007, the HepCURB noted that the panel wadl ‘=tihcerned about psych issues” and would
request an opinion from Dr. Berger. B& Utilization Review Report dated 8/3/2007, 0190.

The minutes from a meeting on August 8, 2007 memorialize the same concerns. Ex. E at 9,
HepCURB Minutes d&d 8/8/2007, 006151.

Dr. Berger cleared Mr. Parks for a biopsy on August 23, 2007, and his liver was biopsied
on October 17, 2007. Ex. E, HepCURB Minuteteda/8/2007 at 006151; Defs.’ Local Rule
56(a)l Stmt. 7 287, ECF No. 219-1; Ex. 25, Consultation Form dated 10/17/2007, 194. The
HepCURB met again on November 29, 2007 gout@ved Mr. Parks for twelve months of
Interferon treatment on December 3, 20&%. 25, Utilization Review Committee dated
11/29/2007, 0195; Ex. E, HepCURB mMites dated 11/29/2007 at 0081%3; Defs.’ Local Rule

56(a)l Stmt. 305, ECF No. 219-1. Mr. Parkgdrehis Hepatitis C treatment on April 16,
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2008. Defs.’ Local Rule 56(a)1 Stmt. § 312,FEo. 219-1. This treatment failed and was
discontinued on August 7, 20081. { 313.

At various times from October 2005 througébruary 2006 and into 2007, Mr. Parks’s
Clinical Record and his own testimony indicatiest he experienced pain in the abdomen or
tenderness over the liver aregeeEx. J, Clinical Record Notes dated 1/27/2006, DEF_001652;
Ex. C, Parks Decl. 1144, 65, 70, 9ég alsdx. B, Edlin Decl. §70 (@ting that the medical
record reflects that Mr. Parks suffered abdomgaah consistent with suffering from Hepatitis C
during the time Interferon was not being providedhim). Dr. Blanchette was aware of these
complaints. Ex. E, Blanchette Dep. 107:1-14 (noting that he would have had access to
documents chronicling Mr. Parks’s complaints of pain).

Mr. Parks also contends tHa suffered liver damage addterioration during the time
he was denied treatment, particularly as shbwthe biopsy of his liver that occurred in October
2007. SeeEx. B, Edlin Decl. 160 (noting that basen his review of Mr. Parks’s medical
records, a biopsy in October 200sked “extensive fibrosis” atagje 4/5 out of 6), 169 (noting
that without proper treatment “[i]t is very liketiqat Mr. Parks’s livecontinued to deteriorate
and that he continued to lose normal liver tisjueDefendants do not dispe the results of the
October biopsy but categorize the fibrosis asderate.” Defs.” LocaRule 56(a)l Stmt. 1446,
ECF No. 219-1. They also do not contest MatParks was suffering some level of liver
damage and, when considering tlsistor alone and apart from aather health concerns, that he
was a candidate for Interferoméitment. Ex. 1, Wu Aff. 1%-16; Ex. E, Blanchette Dep.
246:21-23.

Mr. Parks also claims that the delay in tneatment for Hepatitis C harmed him because

it decreased the likelihood eficcess for the treatment. PICounterstmt. 9 13-15, 17, ECF
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No. 234;see alsd&x. B, Edlin Decl. 1160-61, 67-69, 74. Bdalides agree that the rate at which
Hepatitis C progresses is accelerated in patients co-infedtetHiv/AIDS and Hepatitis C,
“increasing the risk of hepatocellular carcinoma and end-stagddile.” Pl.’s Counterstmt.

1 10, ECF No. 234; Ex. B, Edlin Decl. 1138, 7%; B, Dieckhaus Dep. 12:5-15 ; Ex. 1, Wu Aff.
17. Both sides also agree that a delay in trigdtiepatitis C infections is generally ill-advised
but disagree about whether tihelay negatively impacted Mr. &a in a “measurable” waySee
Ex. 1, Wu Aff. 118; Ex. B, Edlin Bcl. 1145, 58, 60-61, 67-71.

Mr. Parks also claims that the denial of Hepatitis C treatments exacerbated his “anxiety
and other health issues.” BlCounterstmt. { 19, ECF No. 23¥ir. Parks notes that his Viral
Load rose to 199,000 in December 2007 as a result of the anxiety he felt while he was not
receiving Hepatitis C treatment. PLscal Rule 56(a)2 Stmt. 307, ECF No. 28de alsdx J
at 5, Infectious Disease Problem Report, DEF_000011.

F. Legal Analysis of Deliberate Indifference Claims

Mr. Parks claims under 42 U.S.C. 81983 thatBlanchette denied him necessary
medical treatment for HIV/AIDS from July 12, 2005 to April 24, 2006 and for Hepatitis C from
September 19, 208%5to April 16, 2008 and was, therefore, delitagely indifferent to Mr.

Parks’s medical needs. Section 1983 enableaiatifii to bring a causef action for “redress”

2 |n his Amended Complaint, Mr. Parks claims thatas improperly denied treatment for Hepatitis C from
November 2004 to April 2008. Am. Compl. 116, 37FB®. 146. At oral argument on Defendants’ Summary
Judgment Motion, however, Mr. Parks’s counsel indicated that his claim was based on the denial of Hepatitis C
treatment after Mr. Parks was sentahand that conduct before this time was only factual background for his
claim. Mr. Parks was sentenced in June 2005 and began serving that sentence in September 2005. Ex. J, Judgment,
003587. Accordingly, the basis for Mr. Parks’s Hepatitis C claim begins on September 19, 2005, after he began
serving his sentence, and runs through April 16, 2008, when Mr. Parks received Inteetsroerit.

21 Defendants argue that Dr. Blanchette stopped dirgegying Mr. Parks on April 19, 2006 when Dr. O’Halloran
took over the care of the plaintiff. Defs.’ Br. 14, ECF.[989-2. They contend, ttefore, that Dr. Blanchette

cannot be liable for any treatmemaisions made after that datel. The Court disagrees. It is undisputed that Dr.
Blanchette had supervisory roles across the entire DiiCrespect to the administration of HIV/AIDS and

Hepatitis C treatment after April 19, 2006 and that heqipated in the HepCURB votes about Mr. Parks after this
date as well. Thus, he was involved in the denial of treatment after April 2006, evem lieowgs no longer Mr.
Parks’s treating physician.
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against any person who, under calbstate law “subjects, or cawss® be subjected, any citizen
of the United States... to the deprivation of aigits, privileges, or immunities secured by the
Constitution and laws.” 42 U.S.C. 81983. Thgreme Court has held that deliberate
indifference to a prisoner’s serious medical neaastitutes unnecessayd wanton infliction of
pain in violation of the Eighth Amendment, asdeapplicable to theates by the Fourteenth
Amendment.See Estelle v. Gamblé29 U.S. 97, 104 (1976). Accordingly, such claims are
actionable under section 1983.

To prevail on a deliberate indifference clamplaintiff must pove both objective and
subjective elementsSalahuddin v. Goordi67 F.3d 263, 279-81 (2d Cir. 2006). The Court will
analyze each element with respect to HIV/AIDS and Hepatitis C in turn.

1. Objective Element

The objective, “medical need’ element measuhesseverity of thalleged deprivation”
of medical care. Smith v. Carpentei316 F.3d 178, 183-84 (2d Cir. 20(@8ijtations omitted). In
assessing the objective prong, the Court mustmate (a) “whether th prisoner was actually
deprived of adequate medical care,” and"@d)ether the inadequacy in medical care is
sufficiently serious” to constita a constitutional violationSalahuddin467 F.3d at 279-80.
These inquiries are highly fact-specifisee Smitf316 F.3d at 185 (citation omitted).

On part (a) of the test, the&nd Circuit has explained that

the Supreme Court has noted [that] the prison official’s duty is
only to provide reasonable car€hus prison officials who act
reasonably [in response to amiate-health risk] cannot be found
liable under the Cruel and Unus$taunishments Clause, and,

conversely, failing to take reasom@lneasures in response to a
medical condition can lead to liability.
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Salahuddin467 F.3d at 279-80 (citations and internal quotation marks omitted).
Accordingly, a plaintiff must establish tha¢ was denied reasonaldare or “reasonable
measures” in response to a medical condition.

On part (b), the Court must “examine htve offending conduct is inadequate and what
harm, if any, the inadequacy has causedill likely cause the prisoner.Id. at 280 (citation
omitted). For an ailment to qualify as suféiotly serious, typically, the Eighth Amendment
contemplates “‘a condition of urgency’ that magult in ‘degeneratioror ‘extreme pain.”
Chance v. Armstrond43 F.3d 698, 702 (2d Cir. 1998) (citation omitted). In determining the
severity of the medical need, the Court looksaety of factors, including but not limited to
whether the impairment is one that a reasandbttor or patient would find important and
worthy to treat, whether the condition affects dlady activities of anndividual, and whether
the condition is accompanied by chronic and substantial péimt 702-703 (citations omitted).
It may also consider “the absence [or typehd¥erse medical effects or demonstrable physical
injury” as well as any unreasonable and very likadi of future harm, even if physical harm is
not currently presentSmith 316 F.3d at 187-88 (citations omitte8glahuddin467 F.3d at
280;see also Helling v. McKinng$09 U.S. 25, 35 (1993) (findingelpotential future health
risk caused by exposure to second hand smoke ¢oumh the basis for relief under the Eight
Amendment).

In cases where interruption of treatment istake (as compared to no treatment at all),
the Court must consider the harm or the riskharim faced by a prisoner due to this temporary

deprivation, rather than the naturfethe underlying condition itselfSmith 316 F.3d at 185-86.
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a. HIV/AIDS

Regarding HIV/AIDS, Defendds argue that since Mr. Parks only experienced an
interruption in treatment, rather than a compédisence of treatmentglCourt cannot consider
the symptoms of the underlying condition HIV/AIDS in assessing the objective prong. Defs.’
Br. 28, ECF No. 219-2. They also argue thatrtieelical deprivations Mr. Parks endured were
not “sufficiently serious” because he has ndtesed “any serious or permanent injury as a
result.” 1d. at 28-30. Defendants also contend that beeall of Mr. Parks’s injuries pre-date
Dr. Blanchette’s medical treatment, thegnnot have been caused by Dr. Blanchdtteat 29.

Mr. Parks argues that the Court should look at dralition as a whole, rathéran the impact of
an interruption in treatmentegbause the ARV medication was dshior such a long period of
time. Pl.’s Opp. Br. 50-52, ECF No. 232. He argis$ AIDS is a very serious ailment that
satisfies the objective prondd.

The Court finds that Dr. Blanchette’s d&gon to withhold HIV/ADS medication for ten
months, particularly given thir. Parks’s blood levels were ing monitored during this time,
cannot be categorized as a comptiaial of treatment. Insteatljs a temporary cessation of a
particular treatment, namely the adistration of prescription medicatiéh.Considering the
effects of a temporary cessation of ARV medicati®mjth 316 F.3d at 185-86, the Court finds
that Mr. Parks has created a genujonestion of material fact &g whether the denial of ARVs

for his HIV/AIDS satisfies the objective prong.

22|t does appear that Mr. Parks’s blood work was not always taken as scheduled when he wagj hix #aRs.
However, this fact, without more, does not show that&e not being treated for his HIV but rather that he may
have been receiving irregular treatment. Such irregudatrirent may substantiate adioal malpractice claim, but
not necessarily a deliberate indifference claBee Hathaway v. Coughli9 F.3d 550, 554 (2d Cir. 1996) (noting
that the inadvertent failure to provide medical care does not constitute an Eighth Amendment violation) (citation
omitted). There is also no evidenbat the irregular administration of blood tests Mr. Parks experienced was the
result of Dr. Blanchette's alieed deliberate indifference.
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Plaintiff's expert, Dr. Brian Edlin, has notéaat the risks of epaglic interruptions in
ARV medication administration inatle: “significantly increased”sk of “opportunistic disease
and death,” a negative impact on.Narks’s mental health, and the potential to severely disable
his immune system (since he had a historgregumocysistis carinii poenonia). Ex. B, Edlin
Decl. and Exhibits, Ex. A, Edlin Rep. at 5-Bccordingly, there is record evidence linking the
cessation of Mr. Parks’s ARV maeidition to an increased risk fafture and possible current
harm. Mr. Parks also has presented eviderure fris medical recordand his own recollection
that he suffered from physicaymptoms while he was nokiag his ARV medication, such as
thrush, diarrhea, night sweats, and spikes irylbechperature, indicatinipat his HIV/AIDS was
becoming more active.

When construing all ambiguities in Mr. Paik favor, this evidence is sufficient to
demonstrate the existence of a genuine issue ofialdtect as to whethidhe interruption of his
HIV/AIDS medication satisfies the objectiveeslent of a deliberate indifference clai®ee
Leavitt v. Corr. Medical Servdnc.,645 F.3d 484, 500-501 (1st Cir. 20fiphding that a triable
issue of fact existed on a deliberate indiffeeolaim where a doctor did not re-initiate ARV
treatment after plaintiff's viral l|ad had risen to 143,000 and assuteplaintiff was “likely to be
susceptible to opportunistic infigns [ ] in the future” and expienced physical symptoms from
his HIV including thrush, “nightsweats, chifisvers, fatigue... vomitig and constipation”see
also Mastroianni v. Reilly602 F. Supp. 2d 425, 438 (E.D.N.Y. 2009) (denying plaintiff
prescription medications for hidgilood pressure, heart conditi@nd diabetes over a two-year
period created a question of nrééefact on objective prong of tieerate indifference claim).

Defendants’ argument that Mr. Parks stefifrom these conditions before Dr.

Blanchette stopped his ARV medication in JAG05 does not change the Court’s conclusion.
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This case involves symptoms of a progressiveatis, which, if treated, subside rather than
disappear entirely. The fact thdt. Parks has suffered from theahsome point in his life does
not mean that removing him from ARV medicatidid not cause the symptoms to recur.
Accordingly, Mr. Parks has created a genuinestjon of material fact on the objective prong
with respect to his HIV/AIDS diberate indifference claim.

b. Hepatitis C

Dr. Blanchette’s decision withhold Interferon treatment fddepatitis C from Mr. Parks
for two and a half years was notl@lay in treatment but a completenial of that treatment. Mr.
Parks was not receiving any other kind of carenferHepatitis C, other than pain management.
As such, the Court may consider the nature of the illness itself in determining whether it is
“sufficiently serious.” Smith 316 F.3d at 186. It is well-edilished that Hepatitis C is
sufficiently serious to satisfy the objective prarfghe test for deliberate indifferencBee
Hilton v. Wright 928 F. Supp. 2d 530, 547-48 (N.D.N.Y213) (noting that it is “well-
established that HCV is a seus medical condition.”) (citinglatzfield v. EageriNo. 9:08-cv-
283, 2010 WL 5579883, at *10 (N.D.N.Y. D&k, 2010) (collecting cases)).

Even if Dr. Blanchette’s actions are charaetd as a delay in treatment, rather than a
complete denial, a reasonable féintler still could conclude thahe consequences of that delay
were sufficiently serious to satisfy the objective proS8ge Salahuddjd67 F.3d at 281 (finding
that plaintiff made a sufficiertase on the objective prong wer prison official “postpone[d]
for five months a course of treatment for an itetsaHepatitis C.”) Plaitiff's expert, Dr. Edlin,
has indicated that a delay in treatment for Héigall decreases its effectiveness. Other courts
have found that evidence of a delay that deeet®e effectiveness of a treatment creates a

genuine question of material fact on the otijecprong of the deliberatindifference inquiry,
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even in the absence of egitte of physical injurySee e.qg., Ippolito v. Goortlo. 05-CV-6683
(MAT), 2012 WL 4210125, at *11-12 (W.D.N.Y. Be 19, 2012) (finding that evidence of a
seven to nine year delay inrcesving HCV treatment, given expegstimony that early treatment
presented a better chance or stirgy the disease’s progression, \safficient to raise a triable
guestion of fact on #objective prong)DiChiara v. Wright No. 06-cv-6123 (KAM)(LB), 2011
WL 1303867, at *7-8 (E.D.N.Y. Mar. 31, 2011)r(dling the same given a one-year delay in
Hepatitis C treatment and similar expertitasny). Accordingly, Mr.Parks has introduced
evidence sufficient to raise a genuine questiomaterial fact as to whether the delay in
receiving Hepatitis C treatment was sufficiently serious.
2. Subjective Element

Because Mr. Parks has raised a genuine aqurestimaterial fact on the objective prong,
with respect to both his HIV/AIDS and HepatiC, the Court may proceed to analyze the
subjective aspect of Mr. Parks’s deliberate indifference claim. The subjective element of the
deliberate indifference inquing intended to assess whathedefendant acted with a
“sufficiently culpable state of mind.Salahuddin467 F.3d at 280 (citation omitted). To prevalil
on this element, a plaintiff must prove that the official in question omkratklessly or that he
knew of and disregarded “an excessigk tb inmate health or safetyFarmer v. Brennan511
U.S. 825, 836-37 (1994) (defimg the state of mind for dekbate indifference as “lying
somewhere between the poles of negligence@atad and purpose or kaledge at the other”
and noting that it is “routinely equated... witltkéessness”) (citations omitted). The defendant
“need not desire to cause such harm or be aware that such harm will surely or almost certainly
result. Rather, proof of awareness otiastantial risk of the harm sufficesSalahuddin467

F.3dat 280 (citation omitted). He must also babfectively aware” that Biconduct creates that
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risk. 1d. at 281 (citingFarmer, 511 U.S. at 837). Mere negligence or disagreement over proper
treatment does cannot sustain hAbdeate indifference claim dsng as the treatment provided
was adequateld. at 280;Chance 143 F.3d at 703 (citation omitted). Instead, to sustain a
deliberate indifference claim, the defendant’sdumrt must be “repugnant to the conscience of
mankind” or “incompatible with the evolving stdards of decency that mark the progress of a
maturing society.”Estelle 429 U.S. at 102, 105-06.

If medical judgment was coai®usly exercised, even ifahjudgment wa “objectively
unreasonable,” the defendant’s conduct do¢gowstitute deliberate indifferenc&ee
Salahuddin467 F.3cat 280;see also Harrison v. Barkle219 F.3d 132, 139 (2d Cir. 2000)
(noting that “mere malpractice” cannot substeta deliberate indifference claim and that
identifying as examples of such conduct as “a delay in treatment based on a bad diagnosis or
erroneous calculus of risks aadsts, or a mistaken decision notreat based on an erroneous
view... or that the cure is as risky or painor bad as the malady.”) (citation omitted).

However, the Second Circuit also has recpggiexplicitly thasome instances of
“malpractice [ ] can rise to the level of deliberate indifferendédthaway 99 F.3d at 554. A
number of district courts in thiSircuit have interpreted this disction to mean that “[m]edical
decisions that are ‘contrary to accepted meditaidards,” may exhibit deliberate indifference,
because the doctor has ‘based his decision ontkomgether than sound medical judgment.”™
Stevens v. Goor&35 F. Supp. 2d 373, 385 (S.D.N.Y. 2008)ation omitted). These courts

“have denied summary judgment where a readeraly could conclud¢hat conduct ‘was a

substantial departure from accepted professioigiment and that the evidence of risk was
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sufficiently obvious to infer the daféants’ actual knowledge of a stdostial risk to plaintiff.”
Id. at 385 (citation omittedy’

If a policy is used to justfthe relevant decision, a defentlanay not apply that policy
mechanically in contravention of sound medmdvice or without some consideration of the
plaintiff's individual circumstance. The crucliestion in this circumance is not whether the
policy is “generally justifiable” but whether “aryicould find that the @plication of the policy
in plaintiff's case could have amnted to deliberate indifferencegtaintiff's medical needs.”
Johnson v. Wrigh#412 F.3d 398, 404 (2d Cir. 2005) (citation omitted). In other words, the jury
must determine whether the dediants “sincerely and honestly lesled that they were required
to comply” with the policy and “that applyingishpolicy was, in plaintiff's case, medically
justifiable.” Id.

a. HIV/AIDS

Defendants argue that Mr. Parks merely disagreed with Dr. Bittethcourse of
treatment, and, therefore, he cannot sustdiliberate indifference @im. Defs.’ Br. 17, 27,
ECF No. 219-2. They also argue that Dr. Blagitdis choice to discontinue Mr. Parks’s ARVs
was well-supported by relevant medical literatand was a reasonabhedical judgment,

particularly in light of Mr. Parks’s history afporadically taking the ARVS when they were

% The Court considers thisibstantial deviation” or “contrary to acceptaédical standards” test consistent with
Second Circuit jurisprudencé&ee Hathawayg9 F.3d at 554see also Chancd43 F.3d at 703-04 (“In certain
instances, a physician may be deliberately indifferent if he or she consciously chooses ‘an easier and le
efficacious’ treatment plan.”) (citation atted). It is also worth mentionintis standard because the parties and
their experts make arguments under it. However, this Court has not found a Second Circuit case explicitly applying
this precise standard in these terms. Indeed, then8e&iccuit has refused to reverse a jury verdict for the
defendant where the district court refused to give aipstyuction that “evidence of a substantial departure from
accepted medical practice... may be considered in detegrdefendant’s state of mind™ because the instruction
failed to distinguish negligence, which could not justify a deliberate indifference actionrdcklessnesRippy-

El v. MakramNo. 99-0321, 2000 WL 426202, at *2-3 (2d Cir. Apr. 14, 2000). Thus, the Second Circuit has left
open the possibility that cases may exist where the substantial deviation standard helps determine whether a
defendant acted recklessly but emphasized that the ultimate inquiry in deliberate indifference cases is the
defendant’s state of mind.
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prescribed to himld. at 18-21** In making this argument, they rely on Dr. Blanchette’s own
testimony, in which he explains the bases ferd@cisions, as well &lse testimony of their
HIV/AIDS expert, Dr. Dieckhaus, who concludiasit Dr. Blanchette’s decision was medically
justifiable and met the standard of care at the tiBeeEx. 23, Blanchette Aff.; Ex. 4,
Dieckhaus Aff. 1195-96. Theylso rely on Mr. Parks’s T4/CD4 count, which they argue never
reached the 350 count that wauilave justified ARV treatmentDefs.’ Br. 17, 18-21, ECF No.
219-2. Moreover, they emphasize that thetinggphysician who decided to reinstate Mr.
Parks’s ARV medication, Dr. O’Halloran, specificatipted that based on Mr. Parks’s T4 count,
the HIV/AIDS Guidelines did not justify treagrhim with ARVs. ThusDefendants argue, this
case represents a mere difference of medical opihairdoes not rise the level of deliberate
indifference.

The Court agrees that Mr. Parks has failed tmlpce a genuine issue ofterial fact that
Dr. Blanchette knew of and disregarded an excesmkeo his health and safety in taking him
off of his ARVs. The strongest evidence Mr. Pahlas produced on this question is Dr. Edlin’s
expert report, which opines that Dr. Blaette’'s decision to withhold ARV medication
constituted a substantial deva@tifrom the prevailing standard wfedical care. Ex. B, Edlin
Decl. 4% Dr. Edlin justifies his conclusion in thellowing two ways: first, he looks to the
HIV/AIDS Guidelines and second, he looks ta Blanchette’s failure to communicate with Mr.

Parks. The Court will address thes® twases for his opinion in turn.

24t is undisputed that sporadic adherence to an ARV regimen can decrease its effectivenessigyttadipaiient

to develop a resistance to the therapy. Defs.’ Local Rule 56(a)1 Stmt. 9496-502, EC8-NoHzlwever, Mr.

Parks disputes, as a matter of fact, tlmsporadically took the medicatioBee e.gPl.’s Local Rule 56(a)(2) Stmt.
1977-78, 127, ECF No. 234. His expert, Dr. Edlin, also disputes that the medically appropriatdavaile a

patient who takes his medication irregularly is to stop administering the medication altogether. Ex. B, Edlin Decl.
19117-18.

% This question of “substantial deviation” from the standsrdare is only relevartecause it may show that Dr.
Blanchette based his decision on something other than sound medical judgment, inttiaatisgacted with

deliberate indifferenceSee Steven§35 F. Supp. 2d at 385.
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In his report, Dr. Edlin relies on the HIV/AIDSuidelines to identify two problems with
Dr. Blanchette’s course of treatment. Eilsecause Mr. Parks was experiencing physical
symptoms of HIV/AIDS and had been diagnoseth an AIDS-defining illness, Dr. Edlin
opines that he should have been taking his ARVs regardless of the CD4 and Viral Load Assay
levels in his blood. Ex. B, Edlin Decl. 1116, 33, HIV/AIDS Guidelines 6 (“Antiretroviral
therapy is recommended for all patients withstdry of an AIDS-defining illness... regardless
of CD4+ T Cell count.”). In support of the®nclusion, Mr. Parks has produced evidence from
his recollections and ¢hmedical records that he sufféfeom physical symptoms of his
HIV/AIDS infection progressing doecoming more active, such as diarrhea. Moreover, the
Guidelines also indicate that a patient suffetimgphysical symptoms that Mr. Parks claims to
have experienced should have been takiny Afiedication. HIV/AIDSGuidelines 6, 44 n.*
(“Antiretroviral therapy is recommended for all patients with... severe symptoms regardless of
CD4+ T Cell count” and defining “severe sytams” as including “unexplained fever of
diarrhea >2-4 weeks, orehndidiasis, or >10% emplained weight loss.™’

Second, Dr. Edlin argues that Mr. Parkseareshould have stopped taking his ARVS,
because “no studies” at the time provided datsupport this treatment decision, and the
Guidelines indicate that a patient must be in dadirtrial to justify doingso. Ex. B, Edlin Decl.
117-20, 35. Both sides agree tWat Parks was not enrolled incéinical trial at the time.See
id.; Ex. 4, Dieckhaus Aff. 78.

Neither of these issues shows that Dari@hette violated the Guidelines. The
Guidelines themselves indicate that they ardy'@a starting point for ndical decision-making”

and that they “cannot substitute for sound medicgment.” HIV/AIDS Guidelines 39. Thus,

% Even the Defendants’ expert concedes that if a patierg suffering these physical symptoms, they should have
prompted a doctor to at least consider pibsgy ARVs. Ex. D, Dieckhaus Dep. 102:15-18;
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even assuming Dr. Edlin is correct, his testimony about the Guidelines has not shown that Dr.
Blanchette substantially deviatéodm the standard of caredrtherefore, cannot have shown

that he acted with deliberate indifferenc&ee Graham v. Wrighijyo. 01 Civ. 9613(NRB), 2004
WL 1794503, at *5 (S.D.N.Y. Aug. 10, 200@ranting summary judgment for defendants
because the plaintiff was unable to show tefendants’ decisions “deviated from prevailing
medical standards” so “there would be no bamis jury to find that their [actions] support a
claim of deliberate indifference.”)

Mr. Parks presents no evidence from vahécreasonable juror could infer that Dr.
Blanchette knew that withholdif§RV medication subjected Mr. Parito an “excessive risk” of
harm and disregarded that riskFarmer, 511 U.S. at 836-37. Givehe Guidelines’ equivocal
language, the strongest inferenicat a reasonable juror couldaghr from Dr. Edlin’s opinion in
Mr. Parks’s favor is thaDr. Blanchette was negligent, noatthe was deliberately indifferent.
Accordingly, Dr. Edlin’s testimony fails to creasgegenuine issue of matarifact on Mr. Parks’s
deliberate indifference clainSee Changel43 F.3d at 703 (holding that accusations of
negligence, “even if it constitutes medical nralggice,” cannot alone sustain a deliberate
indifference claim) (citation omittedBowman v. CampbeB50 F. Supp. 144, 147-48
(N.D.N.Y. 1994) (granting summary judgmdigcause expert testimony that defendants
“deviated significantly from the appropriate standard of care” constituted “at most, a medical

malpractice claim” that failed to rise toetlevel of deliberatendifference.).

27 As discussed above, there is no factual basisléming that Dr. Blanchetteould not prescribe ARV

medication to Mr. Parks, if he believed it was medically necessary. When Dr. Blanchette firstdutiyam ¥r.

Parks in June 2004, he kept Mr. Parks on the ARV medication that had been prescribed to him until he was
discharged from DOC custody in October 2004. When Mr. Parks returned under his care, later tmansanisr.
Blanchette again prescribed ARV medication to him until deciding to discontinue the medication in July 2005, the
course of treatment at issue in this lawsuit.
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Dr. Edlin also claims that, if Dr. Blanchetwas concerned about Mr. Parks taking his
medication irregularly, he should have “discussfbélke concerns with MParks,” and that the
failure to do so was a substantial deviation ftomstandard of care. Ex. B, Edlin Decl. §15.
Assuming Dr. Edlin’s testimony onithpoint is not conclusory, ¢hCourt has not found any case
law — nor have the parties dited the Court to any casea-support the notion that Dr.
Blanchette’s alleged failure to discuss thesecerns with Mr. Parks constitutes deliberate
indifference as a matter of law.

Outside of Dr. Edlin’s report, Mr. Parksinnot rely on Dr. O’Héoran’s decision to
restart the medication as evidemddr. Blanchette’s deliberatadifference or that he should
have been taking ARVs, because Dr. O’Halloravig notes indicate that the guidelines did not
mandate that he restart the medication. Thuss\ltence does not indicate that Dr. O’Halloran
disagreed with Dr. Blanchette’s reasoning or sewof treatment. Naran Mr. Parks rely on the
fact that he suffered physicalmptoms of his HIV/AIDS becomg more active, because he has
failed to show that Dr. Blanchette knew of atisregarded these symptoms. In fact, there is
evidence in the record that Dr.aBichette investigated Mr. Parkgomplaints about some of his
physical symptoms and considered thenembvaluating Mr. Parks for treatmei@eeEx. 25,
Clinical Record Notes dated 1/5/2006, 133 (nothrag Mr. Parks had complained of thrush but
that Dr. Blanchette observed none).

Thus, the Court must grant summary judginfor Dr. Blanchette on Mr. Parks’
deliberate indifference claim based oa threatment of his HIV/AIDS.

b. Hepatitis C
Mr. Parks claims that Dr. Blanchette wadilerately indifferent tchis serious medical

need in denying him Interferon treatment for his Hepatitis C from September 19, 2005 to April
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18, 2008. This time period can be sub-divided into separate interv&for which the legal
analysis is different. From September 19, 2005 to December 3, 2007, Mr. Parks was awaiting
approval by the HepCURB for his treatmeftom December 3, 2007 to April 2008, Mr. Parks
was approved for treatment andsw@aiting to receive it. Thedtirt finds that Mr. Parks has
failed to show a genuine issue of material faith respect to the sudgtive prong during either
time period.

i. September 19, 2005 to December 3, 2007

Regarding this first time period of roughly twears, Mr. Parks first argues that he has
shown that a genuine issue of material facttexdscause he “did not have mental issues” and
complied with the Hepatitis C regimen whenfimally received it. Pl.’'s Opp. Br. 64, ECF No.
232. He contends the concerns about his maetth that Defendasitlaim prevented him
from receiving treatment earlier weregast hoaationalization,” which Dr. Blanchette created
in April 2006 when he realized that Mr. Parkas contacting human rights organizations with
concerns about his treatmemnd. at 63.

Based on the record before it, the Court fitiad no fact-findecould reasonably agree
with this view. Dr. Blanchette’s Clinical Rembnotes from December 1, 2005 explicitly refer to
concerns about Mr. Parks’s mahhealth condition. There i® evidence, other than Mr.
Parks’s own conjecture, that these notes wezated after April 2006, when Mr. Parks claims
Dr. Blanchette developed a motive or realizewkad to justify his treatent of Mr. Parks See
Hicks v. Bainess93 F.3d 159, 166 (2d Cir. 2010) (noting that a party opposing a motion for
summary judgment “may not rely on mere specalatir conjecture as to the true nature of the
facts to overcome a motion for summary judgnigniThe fact that Dr. Blanchette did not

convey these concerns to Mr. Parks on Decerhp2005, as Mr. Parks testifies, does not mean
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that he did not have these concerns at the tifxe.C, Parks Decl. 160. Moreover, Mr. Parks
admits that, on January 5, 2006, Dr. Blanchette reégerais mental healtroacerns in his notes.
Pl.’s Local Rule 56(a)2 Stn§1198-99, 207-208. Nor does Mr.rikadispute that Dr. Lewis
met with him in February and March 2006 and obseérthat he had mental health conditions.
Id. 119209-210, 214-16.

There also is ample record evidence indrgathat Mr. Parks suffered from some kind of
mental health condition and that health cadgssionals, other thddr. Blanchette, believed
this to be the case in late 2005 through 208ée e.g Ex. 25, Clinical Record Notes labeled
psychiatry dated 11/23/2005, 0108 (noting patient’s paranoia and agitation); Ex. 25, Clinical
Record Notes dated 2/22/2006, 0138 (“GAD, paranoia, hypomania, anxiety, doing well”); Ex.
25, Clinical Record Notes dated 3/29/2006, 014fp@lar D/O... hypomania, paranoia”); Ex.
25, Initial Psychiatric Evaluation dated 4/22/200656 (noting diagnoses of “[illegible] Bipolar
D/O” and “Personality D/O”); Ex. 25, Mealt Status Evaluation dated 7/6/2006 and 7/12/2006,
0167 (noting diagnoses of “Psychosis,” “Bipgldpersonality [ ] + antisocial + paranoid
traits”); Ex. 25, Mental Hdth Services Individual Teatment Plan dated 10/24/2006, 0174
(noting diagnoses of “BiPolar Dis, Anxiety DRersonality Disorder.”)n addition, Dr. Lazrove
diagnosed him with severe/extreme anti-sociasq@eality disorder while he was treating him at
Garner in the Fall of 2007. xE20, Lazrove Aff. 13,4, 41. Mr. B& emphasizes portions of the
record that indicate #t he was doing weltee e.g.Edlin Decl. 56, but the fact that he was
doing well does not mean he did not hamg mental health conditions at the time.

Record evidence indicates that Mr. Paskmental health conditions caused Dr.
Blanchette’'s and the HepCURRBIlgcision not to administer Hejites C medication.  On April

6, 2006, a psychiatrist explicitly indicated thét. Parks’s mental state precluded him from
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receiving Interferon treatment. Ex. 25, Clali&kecord Notes dated 4/6/2006, 0149 (“requesting
to be on Inteferon [sic]... currently not a candel#or this protocol @ this time. He is non-
compliant with meds and is [illegible], verbahssaultive, and pamaid.... Exhibits severe
personality pathology as well as serious raktiness/BAD v. schizoaff... This pt is non-
compliant, aggressive, and exhibits signa psychotic D/O.”). The HepCURB itself also
periodically analyzed Mr. Parks’s readinesstha Hepatitis C treatment and expressed the same
concerns about Mr. Parks’s mental heatihdition. Ex. 25, Utilization Review Reports dated
4/3/2007, 8/8/2007, 0189-91; Ex. E, Treatmeaténmendation dated 4/10/2005 at 006083; Ex
E, HepCURB Minutes dated 5/10/20@624/2007, 8/8/2007, 006143-44, 006147-51. There is
no evidence other than Mr. Parks’s own speautetinat the decision withhold the treatment
was not related to concerns abbig mental health conditions.

Mr. Parks argues that Dr. Blanchette impropearfluenced the other two members of the
HepCURSB to consistently vote against Mr. Paskrequests for treatment. Pl.’s Opp. Br. 62,
ECF No. 232; Pl.’s Local Rule 56(a)2 Strfif240-41, 282, ECF No. 234; PI.’s Counterstmt.
19116-17, 124-27, ECF No. 234. In making this argument, he relies on Dr. Blanchette’s
testimony that the HepCURB’s decisions wemgdglly unanimous and that Dr. Blanchette
participated in the discussion of Mr. Parks ahdred information abbhis experiences with
him. EX. E, Blanchette Dep. 14:8-1138:16-22, 211:4-212:20. This testimony does not
indicate that the HepCURB votes were unanimfousmproper reasons, unrelated to medical
judgment. Nor does it suggest that Dr. Blagtte was providing an improper opinion or
conveying anything other than his medical judgméntieed, Dr. Blanchette testified that he

provided information about Mr. Parks’s mental lieaondition that he bieved was relevant to

48



determine whether he was fit to receive Irgesh treatment. Ex. E, Blanchette Dep. 239:22-
241:18.

Mr. Parks also argues that, even if he hadesmental conditions that formed the basis
for the decisions to deny him Hepatitis C treattndrey were not the types of conditions that
should have precluded him framceiving Interferon treatmenSee e.gEx. B, Edlin Decl.
1949-51 (“personality disorders aret a contraindication to hepatitis C treatment”). Mr. Parks
does not contest that Interferoould negatively impact a patientisental health. Pl.’s Local
Rule 56(a)2 Stmt. 1423, ECF No. 234 (atting that Interferons known to have
“neuropsychiatric side effects(iting Ex. B, Edlin Decl. 148) Accordingly, he does not argue
that mental health is generaliy inappropriate consideration in evaluating a patient’s fitness for
Interferon treatment. Instead, he claims thatvhe not suicidal or depressed, which are, in his
view, the only mental healtfonditions that could justify witiolding Interferon treatment. PL.’s
Opp. Br. 64, ECF No. 232; Ex. B, Edlin Decl. 194r. Parks’s expert, Dr. Edlin, opines that the
decision to allow the other mental health cands to prevent him from receiving treatment was
a significant deviation “from acceptenedical standards of cared. 1147, 59. He cites to no
external source to suppdhis conclusion.

Conversely, Defendants’ exppeDr. George Wu, opindkat the delay in the
administration of Interferon in Mr. Parks’s case wassistent with the standard of care. Ex. 1,
Wu Aff. 17. He indicates that the consit#on of Mr. Parks’s mental illnesses, including
psychiatric conditions outside depression such as “maniciaior, aggressiveness, and non-
compliance with medications [ ], and the admiaisbn of psychiatric medations,” triggered an
appropriate amount of cautiondjustified waiting to administehe Hepatitis C treatmentd.

1914, 16-17, 19Consistent with his broader view, Hepatitis C Guidelines indicate that
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treatment may proceed if thesults of the mental heal#ssessment do not indicate “any
increased psychological risk.” Ex. Q, Hepatiti&Gidelines at 4. Moreover, the notes from the
psychiatrist who recommended Mr. Parks not rectiiedreatment because of his mental health
status as well as the HepCBR reasoning indicates a focus on Mr. Parks’s mental condition
generally, not exclusively on depression or suicidal ideation.

In essence, the remaining question presemeel is whether Dr. Bhchette acted with
deliberate indifference by substantially dewig from accepted medical practice in withholding
Hepatitis C treatment based on mental headtiditions other than depression or suicidal
ideation. Mr. Parks has failed to show inan-conclusory way that genuine question of
material fact exists on this inquiry. His expert, Bdlin, cites to no external source to justify his
opinion that depression or suicidal ideatioresthie only mental health reasons Hepatitis C
treatment may be delayed. His conclusosfiteony fails to creata genuine question of
material fact sufficient to deat a summary judgment motion andhis type of conclusion that
Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals, In6Q9 U.S. 579 (1992)enders inadmissibleSee
In re Agent Orange Prod. Liab. Litig818 F.2d 187, 193 (2d Cir. 1987) (“mere speculation or
idiosyncratic opinion, even if that opinionhgld by one who qualifies as an expert” cannot
establish a genuine issue of nrakfact on sumrary judgment)Kelsey v. City of N.YNo. 03
CV 5978(JFB)(KAM), 2007 WL 1352550, at {&.D.N.Y. May 7, 2007) (“Conclusory
affidavits, even from expert witnesses, i provide a basis upon which to grant or deny
motions for summary judgment.”) (inteal quotation marks and citation omittel)ajor League
Baseball Props., Inc. v. Salvino, In642 F.3d 290311-12 (2d Cir. 2008) (affirming a district
court’s finding that an experthvo conclusorily disagreed witmather failed to create a genuine

guestion of material fact sufficietd defeat a summary judgment motiosge also Simmons v.
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United States38 F. App’x 435, 437-38 (2d Cir. 2004 )x(eert’s conclusory statement that
physician’s actions fell below the standard of caas “rightly regarded by the district court as
insufficient to raise a genuingsue of material fact”).

Even accepting Dr. Edlin’s position as trueaamatter of medicine and admissible under
Daubert there is no evidence in the record thatBlanchette was subjeetly aware of this
alleged mistake other than Mr. Parks’s own spg®mn. The record supports the contrary
assertion, that Dr. Blanchetteas evaluating Mr. Parks carefufiyr Interferon treatment and
making judgments about his healtrdditness for that treatment.

Because Dr. Blanchette exercised his ma&dudgment in deciding to delay the
administration of Interferon and that judgmenswt entirely arbitrarythe Court finds that no
reasonable fact-finder could conclude that Dr. Blanchette acted with deliberate indifféseece.
Victor v. Millcevic,361 F. App’x 212, 215 (2d Cir. 201(f)nding that a ten-month delay in
administering a liver biopsy did not constitakeliberate indifference begase one of plaintiff's
doctors believed that he did not meet the Depant of Correctional Services criteria for the
procedure)Pabon v. WrightNo. 99 Civ.2196(WHP), 2004 WL 628784, at *6-8 (S.D.N.Y. Mar.
29, 2004) (finding that summary juchgnt was appropriate on piéff's deliberate indifference
claim because the requirement for regular Ibiepsies to continue Interferon treatment for

Hepatitis C was a “medical judgment” “made teere that Interferon treatment was appropriate
for plaintiff[ ].”).

“Many courts in this circuit have held thatteleminations as to whether to treat Hepatitis-
C with Interferon, pursuant to [Department ofrational Services] Guéalines, reflect medical

judgments, not ‘deliberate indifference’ under the Eighth Amendmétiatson v. WrightNo.

9:08-CV-62 (NAM/ATB), 2011 WL 4527789, at *10 (N.B.Y. Aug. 4, 2011) (collecting cases)
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(granting summary judgment for the defendamta deliberate indifference claim based on a
denial of Hepatitis C treatment for twaeeks) (Report and Recommendation adopted by the
District Court2011 WL 4528931 (N.D.N.Y. Sep28, 2011)). Mr. Parks’s case is no different.
This case does not involve a mechanical appdioaif aspects of the guidelines “that are less
clearly correlated with treatment succeskl’” (citations omitted)see also cf. Johnsoal2 F.3d

at 404 (finding that a mechanical applicataira Hepatitis C guidatie created a genuine

guestion of material fact as to whether defen@dated with deliberatedifference). Instead,

this case involves a reasoned medical jueiginby Dr. Blanchette, supported by the DOC
guidelines, that the benefit of Interferon treatment did not outweigh the risk of exacerbating his
mental health conditions.

The fact that Dr. O’Halloran and Dr. Edldisagree with Dr. Blachette’s course of
treatment does not mean he was deliberatelyfardnt, because Dr. Blanchette’s decision was
based on a condition that theoed shows existed, and théseno evidence that it was an
arbitrary judgment. “[T]he law is cleardha difference of opinion... even among medical
professionals themselves, aghie appropriate coursd# medical treatment does not in and of
itself amount to deliberate indifferenceWilliams v. M.C.C. Inst97 CIV. 5352, 1999 WL
179604, at *7 (S.D.N.Y. Mar. 31, 1999) (citations omitted).

Moreover, this case is distinguishable frdahnsonwhere the Second Circuit reversed a
grant of summary judgment on a deliberateffiedénce claim based on (1) the fact that every
single one of plaintiff's treating physicians indicated that he shealgive the treatment, (2) that
there was conflicting evidence about whetherdicision to not provide the treatment was
medically justifiable, and (Ihere was no evidence suggesting that the defendants took any steps

to verify whether not treating him was medicallypropriate. 412 F.3d at 404. Here, there may
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have been some disagreement among treatipgi@ans, namely between Dr. O’Halloran and
Dr. Blanchette, but there is littevidence on the record as toythis disagreement existed. The
parties also agree that a patient's mental hetdifus generally is l@vant to prescribing
Interferon, because the medication can exacedeatain mental illnesses or conditions. Dr.
Blanchette took steps to verify whether treant was medically appropriate by relying on
evaluations performed bypsychiatrist.

Finally, Mr. Parks argues that delaying the administration &fiterferon, Dr. Blanchette
acted with an inappropriate financial incentivedogse it is an expensive treatment. Pl.’s Opp.
Br. 7, 64, ECF No. 232. Although the Hepatfisnedications are certainly costhgeEXx. P,
Prescription and Treatment Costs k. Parks, 3, there is abstdly no evidence in the record
that Dr. Blanchette considered the cost in Bpadly in evaluating Mr Parks other than Mr.
Parks’s own speculatiorSee cf. Leavit45 F.3d at 498 (finding that a genuine question of
material fact existed with respect to whetaatefendant was delibeedy indifferent in not
prescribing medication for HIV/AIDS where thesas evidence that defendant “had a financial
interest” in not prexibing the drug).

Mr. Parks does show that a non-voting mendighe HepCURB was aware of the cost
of Interferon generally, but there is evidence thatHepCURB did not diptly consider cost in
making its decisions. EXx. E, BlanchettepD236:10-237:18 (“I do know that [Dr. Buchanan]
was concerned about the high cost of hepdiitiserapy and having the budget reflect the
ongoing and escalating costs... But the URB itd&h’t have any role in that.”), 248:16-23,
221:19-21 (indicating that Dr. Buchanal ot vote on HepCURB decisions). Ugeavitt,the
First Circuit relied on direct édence that the treating physioia assisstant was motivated by

financial concerns. He “purportedly saidligavitt that he would not provide him with HIV
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medications because they are too costly” amtlehdinancial stake in keeping treatment and
referral costs low” as the president and largestedtolder of a medicabatractor that provided
healthcare services the prisoners wheleeavitt was housedLeavitt,645 F.3d at 498-99. Mr.
Parks has failed to provide any similar evidencthis case that Dr. Blanchette considered cost
at all when making a determination ab®rt Parks’s readiness for Interferon.

ii. December 3, 2007 to April 2008

With respect to the second time periodeaMr. Parks was approved and waiting for the
treatment, Mr. Parks has failed to show how delay was caused by deliberate indifference.
“[A] delay in treatment does not violate the ctitasion unless it involves aact or failure to act
that evinces ‘a conscious disregarcdacfubstantial riskf serious harm.”Thomas v. Nassau
Cnty. Corr. Ctr.,288 F.Supp. 2d 333, 339 (E.D.N.Y. 2003) (quotiitance 143 F.3d at 703).
Based on the current record, the Court doe«motv why this delay occurred. Mr. Parks has
provided no evidence, other than his own conjegtiimat the delay of treatment during this
period was the result of conscious disredarényone at DOC. Moreoreghe delay between
the approval and the adminidiaa of treatment was roughly foamonths, which may indicate
negligence but not deliberate iffdrence without more evidencbaut the Defendant’s state of
mind.

Mr. Parks also has failed to show that Blanchette was involved with the delay in
treatment during this time period. “It is a weBtablished principle that ‘personal involvement
of defendants in alleged constittnal deprivations is a pregaisite to an award of damages
under [section] 1983."Pelletier v. ArmstrongCiv. No. 3:99cv1559(HBFR007 WL 685181, at
*6 (D. Conn. Mar. 2, 2007) (citation omitted and alteration in origirsag also Wright v. Smith

21 F.3d 496, 501 (2d Cir. 1996) (citations omittéddirphy v. State of Conn. Dep’t. of Public
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Health,3:04CV976RNC, 2006 WL 908435, at *2 (Donn. Mar. 30, 2006) (“A suit for
deliberate indifference to a seus medical need cannot be mained against a defendant who
has no role in the provision of ihieal care.”) (citation omitted).

Personal involvement of a supervisory ofilanay be shown by evidence that “(1) the
defendant participated directly in the alldgmnstitutional violation, (2) the defendant, after
being informed of the violatin through a report or appeal, fal® remedy the wrong, (3) the
defendant created a policy or custom under whintonstitutional practices occurred, or allowed
the continuance of such a policy or cust¢4),the defendant was grossly negligent in
supervising subordinates whormomitted the wrongful acts, @¢b) the defendant exhibited
deliberate indifferent to the rights of inmat®sfailing to act on information indicating that
unconstitutional actaere occurring.”Colon v. Coughlin58 F.3d 865, 873 (2d Cir. 199%).

The parties agree that, after December 3, 2D@./Blanchette was not seeing Mr. Parks
as a patient, and the role of the HepCURB in the process was complete. There also is no
evidence that he was aware that Mr. Parksneaseceiving the treatment that was approved by
HepCURB. Without more evidegr of personal involvement, the Court must dismiss this aspect
of the claim. See Pelletier007 WL 685181, at *8 (finding that@aintiff could not establish
the personal involvement ofdarector of the UConn prografrom which he was receiving
treatment in a deliberate indifference claim becdgskad no personal contact with the plaintiff

and was not involved with his care or treatme@®uno v. VadlamudCivil No. 9:03-CV-

% The Court is not aware of any ruling from the Second Circuit clarifying the impAshefoft v. Igbal556 U.S.

662 (2009), on th€olonfactors. See Grullon v. City of New Haveéf20 F.3d 133, 139 (2d Cir. 2013) (noting that
Igbal “may have heightened the requirements for showisigparvisor's personal involvement with respect to

certain constitutional violations” but dedlng to specifically address the issug&hnson v. WhitéNo. 9:14-cv-

00715 (MAD)(DJS), 2015 WL 6449126, at *4 n.2 (N.D.N.Y. Oct. 23, 2015) (noting that the Second Circuit has yet
to decide the impact dfjbal on Colon); see also Koehl v. Bernstegp. 10 Civ. 3808(SHS)(GWG), 2011 WL
2436817, at *9 (S.D.N.Y. June 17, 2011) (noting thagbal, the Supreme Court “explicitly rejected the argument
that, ‘a supervisor's mere knowledge of his subordisatiscriminatory purpose amounts to the supervisor’'s

violating the Constitution.™) (quotinggbal, 556 U.S.at 677). Accordingly, the Court will apply the five factors as
they were described i@olon
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00475(GLS/DEP), 2005 WL 1977618, at *9 (N.DYNJuly 11, 2006) (granting summary
judgment on a deliberate indifference claim imdiaof the associate commissioner of health
services because there was no evidencéhthatas aware of, mudass involved in, the
plaintiff's treatment).
3. Conclusion
Accordingly, for all of the foregoig reasons, summary judgment is her€iRANTED
on both of Mr. Parks’s delibate indifference claims.
G. Statement of Facts Regarding Transfers
As mentioned above, Mr. Parks also makéaliggion claims and claims under the ADA
and Rehabilitation Act, both of wdh involve Mr. Parks’s transféo different cells and different
facilities in the DOC system. The Court willgmide a brief summary of the relevant facts and
then apply the law of each claim to those facts.
1. Inter-Facility Transfers
Mr. Parks was transferred to different faaks within the DOC system twelve times
while he was in DOC custody from Octol2804 to November 2010. He claims that
Defendant® caused eight of these transfers, all etwMWCI and Garner, to retaliate against
him for filing grievances, threatening to suedayenerally complainingbout the quality of his
medical caré® Pl.’s Opp. Br. 28-29, ECF No. 232. particular, Mr. Parks believes that Dr.

Blanchette continually transfed him from MWCI to Garnemnder the pretext of receiving

2 Mr. Parks alleges in his Complaint that John Siskiiwas warden of MWCI from 2004 to 2007 and was,
therefore, responsible for some of taesrlier transfers. Am. Compl. 19, EQo. 146. Because the claims based

on those transfers were dismissed, Mr. Sieminski ismoéntly a party to this lawsuit but under Mr. Parks’s

theory, he was responsible for the transfduring his tenure as warden.

% Defendants’ Local Rule 56(a)1 Statement discusses than just these eight transfers. Mr. Parks was

transferred to Corrigan for treatment June 2007 and waasfarred to Osborn in 2010. Defs.’ Local Rule 56(a)l

Stmt. 19598-604, 615-20, ECF No. 219-1. He was transferred back to Garner after his stay at Corrigart@nd back
MWCI after his stay at Osborrd. Since Mr. Parks does not put these other transfers at issue in his Complaint or
his Opposition Brief to Defendants’ Summary Judgment Motion, the Court will not consider them.
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mental health treatment, and thapeatedly, the doctors at Garriound that he did not require
such treatment and transferred him back to MW@l .at 31-32. It is undisputed that Garner
provides housing for inmates with significant memigdlth issues that regaispecialized mental
health care as well as gengpabulation housing for inmates atsety level 4. Defs.’ Local
Rule 56(a)1 Stmt. 1 326-27, 573, ECF No. 21847, Dzurenda Aff. 1 6, 17. MWCI does
not have this speciakd mental health housing and onffeos general population housing at
security levels 4 and 55eeEx. 17, Murphy Affidavit {1 14-16.

Defendants argue that they have provided aretadiatory reason thail of the transfers
occurred. Defs.’ Br. 8-10, ECF No. 219-2. Tlaso have produced evidenthat the Director
of Offender Classification anflopulation Management, and none of the three Defendants, was
responsible for authorizing allter-facility inmate transfersex. 8, Administrative Directive
9.1(4) (“The Director of Inmate Classification and Population Man@ent shall be responsible [
] for all inmate transfers and placement.According to Adminigtative Directive 9.1, the
Director “shall be authorized to transfer an inenfor medical purposes tite request of medical
personnel.”ld. at 7(D). This subsection also providbat “[u]pon resoltion of the medical
concern, the inmate shall be returned ®gbnding facility as soon as possible unless
reclassification or reaggiment is warranted.1d.

More specifically, the parties take the positions described below with respect to each
disputed transfer.

a. April 19, 2006 Transfer From MWCI to Garner

Defendants argue that Mr. Parks was tramsfl on April 19, 2006 to receive mental

health treatment available only at GarnBefs.’ Local Rule 56(a)1 Stmt. 231-32, 244, ECF

No. 219-1. In support of this theory, Mr. Parkisimate Transfer Histgrindicates that this
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transfer occurred because “facility unable to nEtnee[d].” Ex. 26, Display Inmate Transfer
History, 005386. In addition, Psyeltiist Dr. Lewis noted that slreferred Mr. Parks at this
time to level 4 mental health housing. 2%, Inter-Agency Patient Referral Report dated
4/5/2006, 0150; Ex. 19, Clinical Record Notes daté6/2006, 1 (Dr. Lewisotes that Mr. Parks
required mental health housing)s of October 3, 2005, the lasttdar. Parks’s mental health
status was adjusted before he was transferredabet a level 4. Ex. 19, Needs History, 12.

Mr. Parks argues that he was transferrethendate because he had filed numerous
grievances about his heatthre in the preceding monthSeeEx. C, Parks Decl. §103; Defs.’
Local Rule 56(a)1 Stmt. 1 73, 79, ECF No. 218€E also e.gEx. 25, Inmate Request Form
dated 12/6/05, 116; Ex. 25, Inmate Request Faated 2/28/06, 139; Ex. C, Ex. 6, Inmate
Request Form dated 3/24/2006, DEF_001616. Heatel that Dr. Blanchette was angry with
him and, on April 4, 2006, Dr. Blanchette orallyghtened to send him to Garner as a result.
Pl.’s Local Rule 56(a)2 Stmt294, ECF No. 234; Ex. C., Parkecl. 1 51-75. Mr. Parks does
not contest the contents of thter-Agency Patient Referral Repar the Clinical Record Notes
cited by Defendants. Pl.’s Local Rule 56(a)2 Sfi81-32, ECF No. 234. But he argues that
Dr. Blanchette’s own testimony indicates that“played a major role” in having Mr. Parks
transferred to Garner, and that Mr. Parks’s memtalth classification sce was a 2 or 3 until
August 2006.1d. 1244; Pl.’'s Countetmt. 112-13.

In addition to Mr. Parks’s complaints, after hearing from Mr. Parks, a prisoner rights
organization wrote a letter dated March 2806 to MWCI asking why Mr. Parks was not
receiving treatment for his HIV/AIDS and Hepatitis C. Ex. J, Letter to Wanda White-Lewis
Dated 3/28/2006, DEF_001618n April 3, 2006, Ms. Wanda White of the DOC responded to

this letter, copying Dr. Blanchette; thus making Blanchette aware of ihorganization’s letter
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in early April. Pl.’s Counterstmt. 142-43, EGlo. 234; Ex. E, Blanchette Dep. 112:1-10; Ex.
C, Ex. 8, Letter dated 4/3/2006 at DEF_001609.
b. August 11, 2006 Transfer from Garner to MWCI

Defendants argue that Mr. Parks was tramsfl on August 11, 2006 at the request of
mental health because his treatment at Gdraéibeen completed. Defs.’” Local Rule 56(a)l
Stmt. 1587-88, ECF No. 219-1. Mr. Parks’s ClinRatord notes indicate “notified by mental
health that I/M Parks will trasfer to MacDougall leer this afternoon.” Defs’ Local Rule 56(a)1
Stmt. 1 587, ECF No. 219-1; EX9, Clinical Record Notes dat&/11/2006, 3. Mr. Parks had
been upgraded to a level 4 mental healthustah June 7, 2006 and was downgraded to a level 3
on August 7, 2006. Ex. 19, Needs History, 12. Accordingly, when the need for treatment
stopped, per Administrative Directive 9.1, SectigD), he was sent back to the originating
facility, MWCI.

Mr. Parks admits that mental health initthtbe transfer on this date, Pl.’s Local Rule
56(a)2 Stmt. 71587-88, ECF No. 234, but believasttiis transfer was part of a scheme
orchestrated by Dr. Blanchette to continualgnsfer Mr. Parks out of MWCI to Garner for
complaining about his medical care. Pl.;ggOBr. 31-32, ECF No. 232. He believes that this
transfer shows that Dr. Blanchette’s assessmielr. Parks’s mental health need was not
credible. Id. Surrounding the date of this transfer,. larks also continued to complain about
not receiving treatment for Hepatitis C and about the frequent transfers. Ex. C., Parks Decl.
1990, 122.

c. August 25, 2006 Transfer from MWCI to Garner
Defendants argue that Mr. Parks was tramsfl on August 25, 2006 to receive mental

health treatment available only at GarnBefs.’ Local Rule 56(a)1 Stmt. {9589-93, ECF No.
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219-1. As reflected in Mr. Pasls Clinical Record, around 4 pmwas noted that he had been
placed at a level 5 mental health status on August 24, 2006. Ex. 19, Clinical Record Notes dated
8/24/2006, 4; Ex. 19, Needs History, 12ocial worker Sara Cywho saw Mr. Parks later that
same day, referred Mr. Parks to level 4 mengallth housing. Ex. 19,li@ical Record Notes
dated 8/24/2006, 4-5; Ex. 19, Needs History, 11.

Mr. Parks does not dispute the facts on whiefendants rely. Pl.’s Local Rule 56(a)2
Stmt. 1589-93, ECF No. 234. He argues that this transfer is part of Dr. Blanchette’s scheme to
retaliate against him for complaining aboutmedical care. Pl.’s Opp. Br. 31-32, ECF No. 232.
Surrounding the date of this transfer, Mrri&acontinued to compila about not receiving
treatment for Hepatitis C and about the frequeantsfers. Ex. C, Parks Decl. 11 90, 122. The
Clinical Record also reflecthat Mr. Parks “seems to tfgnd] use the ‘conspiracy’ thought
context in terms of threatening $ae us” and that Mr. Parks “naéfl the district courts.” EX.
25, Clinical Record Notes dated 8/22/2006, 154,19, Clinical Record Notes dated 8/24/2006,
4.

d. October 16, 2006 Transfer from Garner to MWCI

Defendants argue that thismisfer occurred because Mr. Parks completed his mental
health treatment at Garner and was transfaorele originating facility under Administrative
Directive 9.1, Section 7(D). Defs.’ LocRule 56(a)l Stmt. 11594-97, ECF No. 219-1. Mr.
Parks remained at a level 4 mental healthustantil October 10, wheme was downgraded to a

level 3 by Social Worker Hashim. Ex. 19, Needs History’*1Mr. Parks’s Inmate Transfer

31 Licensed Social Worker Hashim reasmended that Mr. Parks’s mental health status be downgraded from level 4
to 3 on October 2, 2006, Ex. 25, Notice of Mental Health Score Change dated 10/2/2006, 0173, but thiselowngrad
did not officially occur until October 10, 2006. Ex. 19, Neétistory, 11. The Clinical Record notes dated the day
after Mr. Hashim’s recommendation indicate that therenga®vert evidence of pshosis.” Ex. 19, Clinical

Record Notes dated 10/3/2006, 6.

60



History indicates that he was transferieecause he was “CLEARED BY MH FOR GP
RETURN.” Ex. 19, Display Imate Transfer History, 005383.

Mr. Parks admits that mental health initthtbe transfer on this date, Pl.’s Local Rule
56(a)2 Stmt. 11594-97, but believeattthis transfer was part afscheme orchestrated by Dr.
Blanchette to continually transfer Mr. Parks otitMWCI to Garner. Pl.’s Opp. Br. 31-32, ECF
No. 232. He argues that the fdeat Mr. Parks was transferredck to MWCI shows that Dr.
Blanchette’'s assessment of Mr. Parks'sitakhealth need was not credible. Surrounding
the date of this transfer, Mr. Parks also cargshto complain about no¢ceiving treatment for
Hepatitis C and about the frequent transf Ex. C, Parks Decl. 1 90, 122.

e. January 16, 2007 Transfer from MWCI to Garner

Defendants argue that Mr. Parks was tramsteon January 16, 2007 to receive mental
health treatment because, in part, “he had exkilute of control behavior such as yelling while
in the Infirmary.” Defs.’ Local Rule 56(&4)Stmt. at 71 & Y271, ECF No. 219-1. Defendants
also argue that the transfer was intendeddoepMr. Parks in the caocé Dr. O’Halloran, with
whom he had a good relationshilal. 1277-80.Mr. Parks’s Inmate Transfer History indicates
that “inmate needs specific treatment at @afnEx. 27, Display Imate Transfer History,
005382. Mr. Parks’s Clinical Recombtes from January 3 and Janué indicate that “ID” or
infectious disease doctors determined that Mrk$should be sent back to Garner for treatment
of his psychiatric issues and phitis C. EX. 25, Clinical Recd Notes dated 1/3/07 and 1/6/07,
180-81; Ex. 23, Blanchette Aff. 1 163.

Mr. Parks denies that the transfer occurrethabhe could be tréad by Dr. O’Halloran

and to manage his psychiatric issues. Rbsal Rule 56(a)2 Stmfj280, ECF No. 234. He

2 The transfer occurred as soon asgilgle after this determination, given that Mr. Parks was injured in a scuffle
with another inmate on December 27, 2006. Defs.’ Local Rule 56(a)1 Stmt. 1 273-HCEM9p. 219-1.
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argues that this transferpart of Dr. Blanchette’s reffatory scheme against him for
complaining about his medical carel. Mr. Parks’s transfer histompdicates the transfer is
“Per Dr. Blanchette, inmate needs specif@atment at Garner.” Ex. 27, Display Inmate
Transfer History, 005382. Surrounding the date isftilansfer, Mr. Parks continued to complain
about the frequent transferEx. C, Parks Decl. 1122.
f. September 27, 2007 Transfer from Garner to MWCI

Defendants argue that Mr. Parks was tramsfl on September 27, 2007 because he had a
separation profile with an inmate at GarnBefs.’ Local Rule 56(a)1 Stmt. 11605-608, ECF No.
219-1. They argue that Counselor Supervisor Bames requested the transfer because of this
“profile,” which is defined as a disagreemé&etween two inmates that requires separalthn.
Ex. 11, Inmate Transfer Histor05379 (noting the reason for thartsfer as “separation from
inmates”);see alsdx. 12, Administrative Direove 9.9, Sections 3(D), 8 (defining a “separation
profile” as a “record specifying the need ands@n for keeping two (2) or more individuals
apart from each other” and noting that inmateg bwtransferred to arfwr facility for their
safety).

Mr. Parks admits that the profile causedtiiamsfer, Pl.’s Local Rule 56(a)2 Stmt. 1605-
608, but believes that this transfer was pad s€heme orchestrated by Dr. Blanchette to
continually transfer Mr. Parks oof MWCI to Garner and indeeshows that Dr. Blanchette’s
assessment of Mr. Parks’s mental health wessinot credible. Pl.’s Opp. Br. 31-32, ECF No.
232. Surrounding the date of thiansfer, Mr. Parks continued to complain about the frequent

transfers. Ex. C, Parks Decl. §122.
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g. October 26, 2007 Transfer from MWCI to Garner

Defendants argue Mr. Parks was transfear@®ctober 26, 2007 to receive mental health
treatment available at Garner. Defs.’ LoBalle 56(a)1 Stmt. #0-95. Dr. Blanchette
requested that Mr. Parks be held at Garner for one year because he wanted to make sure Mr.
Parks stayed in one facility for one year, whilhe duration of the Hepatitis C treatmelut.

Mr. Parks argues that this traesfs part of Dr. Blanchetteretaliatory scheme against
him for his complaints about his medicaleaPl.’s Local Rul&6(a)2 Stmt. 11291-92, 294,
ECF No 234. Mr. Parks’s Inmate Transfer drigtindicates, “[r]letun to Garner per Dr.
Blanchette and hold at Garner for a yedX. 28, Display Inmate Transfer History, 005377.
Surrounding the date of thisatrsfer, Mr. Parks continued ¢omplain about the frequent
transfers. Ex. C, Parks Decl. 1122.

h. August 21, 2008 Transfer from Garner to MWCI

Defendants argue that thisutisfer occurred because Garner’s “mental health team”
determined that Mr. Parks had received the mental health treatment he needed. Defs.’ Local
Rule 56(a)l Stmt. 71609-14. In accordand& WIOC policy, therefore, Mr. Parks was
transferred back to éhoriginating facility. Ex. Ex. 8Administrative Directive 9.1, Section
7(D). Dr. Bogdanoff (from Mental Health) determad that Mr. Parks could be placed into the
general population on August 20; Wwas transferred to MWCI the next day. Defs’ Local Rule
56(a)l Stmt. 11 609-13, ECF No.221; Ex. 19 Clinical Recordlotes dated 8/20/08, 9.

Mr. Parks does not dispute any of the fda$endants assert justifying their explanation
for the transfer. Pl.’s Local Rule 56(a)2 Stfff609-14. Surrounding the date of this transfer,

Mr. Parks continued to complain about the frext transfers. Ex. C, Parks Decl. §122.
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2. Intra-Facility Transfers

In addition to these facilityo-facility moves, Mr. Parkalso was placed on “high
security status” on February 9, 2005, which reszpiinim to be moved to a new cell, but not
necessarily a new facility, every 90 day3efs’ Local Rule 56(a)1 Stmt. 1 621-31, ECF No.
219-1; Ex. 16, High Security Recommendation for Inmate Parks dated 2/9/2005, 803650.
Warden Simienski recommended the placemenabse Mr. Parks had a history of escape,
attempted escape, and had writteletter, docketed in this casisfing security vulnerabilities in
the Walker Building at MWCI.Id.; see alsd&x. 7, Dzurenda Aff. §1; Am. Compl. at 30-37,
Ex. 1, Letter dated 2/7-8/2005, ECF No. High security status provides for increased
supervision of inmates who poséhaeat to the safety and sedyrof the facility and requires
that the inmate be housed atarity level 4 or 5. Defs’ Laal Rule 56(a)1l Stmt. 1 621-23, ECF
No. 219-1. Mr. Parks does not challenge thisahdesignation but rathergues that he should
have been removed from the status earherthat the Defendants’ failure to do so was
retaliation.

DOC policy in place at the time required thatimmate’s high secus status designation
be reviewed every six month#d. § 628; Ex. 15, AdministrativBirective 9.4, Section 13(H).
In March 2007, the Classification Committee recommended that Mr. Parks be removed from
high security status, but Defenddzurenda rejected the regti@and cannot recall why. Pl.’s
Counterstmt. 11170-71, ECF No. 2&Xk. J, Letter to Fretlevesque dated 3/12/2007, 004027.

On February 28, 2008, during a review undertakeédaaher, the Classdfation Committee again

* There has been some debate as to how high sestatitys impacted the relocation of inmates, which will be
discussed further below, but discovery has demonstrated that high security status requiremthate be housed

in a secured cell and that the inmate be transferred to a different cell “at a minimum of edayg.9CEXx. 15,
Administrative Directive 9.4, Section 13(EA High Security Monitoring designation also required that an inmate
be housed in a level 4 or 5 facilityd. at Section 14. As such, this designation would only require an inter-facility
transfer if the inmate was housed at a level 3 or lower facility at the time of designation.
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recommended that Mr. Parks be removed frogh Isiecurity status “based on medical iliness”
and noted that “frequent cell ma/bave exacerbated his illnes€k. J, High Security Review
Hearing Form dated 2/28/2008, 003637. Wardear&®zda concurred witthat recommendation
and wrote a letter on the saméadeequesting Mr. Parks be rewed from high security status
due to his medical condition. Ex. J, Lette Fred Levesque dated 2/28/2008, 003636.

Defendant Murphy also requested that Mr. Bdr& removed from high security status in
a letter dated July 8, 2009. Ex. J, LetteAtbding Director Milling dated July 8, 2009, 003621.
In doing so, he noted the February 28, 2@®mmendation of removal due to his medical
condition. Id. Classification concurred with this recorandation, Ex. J, Letter from Director of
Offender Classification & Population Magement dated 7/10/2009, 003622, which likely
resulted in his removal from high security stagbertly thereafter. Ex. G, Dzurenda Dep. 107:7-
109:16; Pl.’s Counterstmt. 177, ECF No. 23dligcating that Mr. Parks remained on high
security status until July 22, 2009%ven after Mr. Parks was removed from high security status,
he notes that his cell was moved thirtéieres from September 2009 through November 2010,
“or roughly once a month.” Pl.’s Opp. Br. 38, EQlo. 232 (citing Ex. J at 27, List of Cell
Locations for Parks as of 7/22/2009, at 2867).

Mr. Parks claims that the Defendants kneut the complained about these cell moves
and their negative impact on his health, becausmhmplained by filing inmate request forms.
Ex. C, Parks Decl. 11114, 122, 125. More sjdlf, he claims that Defendant Murphy
received three complaints &ugust 2008 regarding the frequeprison transfers, including
allegations that they were interfering witts faibility to pursue grievances and that they
negatively impacted his health. Pl.’s Caenstmt. 111157-60, 163-65, ECF No. 234. In each

instance, Defendant Murphy forwarded the commplieo the unit manager and either did not
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follow-up or does not recall what action was tak&h. 1158, 164-65Mr. Parks also

complained to Warden Murphy about cell moves on June 2, 2009, a few weeks before he was
removed from high security statukl. §190; Ex. H, Murphy Dep. and Exhibits, Ex. 18, Letter to
Murphy dated 6/2/2009, 004702-04.

Warden Dzurenda received a written complaint from Mr. Parks about the cell movements
in February 2008, just before hecommended that Mr. Parks be removed from high security
status. Ex. J, Inmate Request Form date®@(8, 004065-66. He also téisd that he recalled
Mr. Parks making complaints about the stressftieguent cell moves caused Mr. Parks. Ex. G,
Dzurenda Dep. 88:8-14.

3. Impact of the Transfers on Mr. Parks

Mr. Parks attests that thesffuent transfers (both intrand inter-facility) caused him
stress and anxiety that resultechight sweats, panic attacks, atidziness, that they inhibited
the timely administration of himedication, and that he lost aart personal items, including a
box of his grievances, during the moves. ExP&rks Decl. 7 111-13. Hplains that, given
his heightened sensitivity to germs, becaudgisofedical conditions, he had to clean each new
cell carefully when he arrivedd.  112. Mr. Parks also indicates that Dr. O’Halloran told him
that the transfers had a negativgauat on his health and anxietid. §{ 124, 137. Dr.

O’Halloran noted in Mr. Parks’medical records in Februa2@08, that he was experiencing
stress from the moves. Ex. H, Murphy Dapd Exhibits, Clinical Record Notes dated
2/14/2008, 004705.

Additionally, Mr. Parks found being housed@arner to be very disruptive and

upsetting, because he was surrounded by “serious mental illness that caused some to be almost

comatose and others to act and scream wildix” C, Parks Decl. § 120. He also indicates that
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the moves inferred with his ability to pursuéegances, because they precluded him from being
able to exhaust his remediasany given facility.ld.  119.
4. Preclusion from Filing Grievances

Mr. Parks also claims that Defendants xnuta and Murphy retaliated against him by
prohibiting him from filing grievances. Thegrohibitions occurredn April 29, 2009, May 7,
2010, and October 6, 2010 for Warden Murphg #ay 14, 2008 from Warden Dzurenda. EX.
J, Letter from Murphy dated 4/29/2009, 0047&S; J, Letter from Dzurenda dated 5/14/2008,
004812; Ex. J, Letter from Murphy dated 20010, 004962; Ex. H, Murphy Dep. and Exhibits,
Ex. 22, Letter from Murphy dated 10/6/20104089. Mr. Parks notes that the April 29, 2009
prohibition by Warden Murphy occurred within 88ys of him filing this lawsuit. Pl.’s
Counterstmt. 1189, ECF No. 234.

H. Legal Analysis of Retaliation Claims

Mr. Parks has brought retation claims under 42 U.S.C. 81983 claiming that the
Defendants violated the First and Fourtegitiendments. Am. Compl. 177-82, ECF No. 146.
Mr. Parks believes that the retaliatory actions taken against him include: (1) the Defendants
transferring him between and within facilitieen; (2) Dr. Blanchette “inappropriately
manipulat[ing] the HepCURB process to ensuhat Mr. Parks was denied treatment for his
Hepatitis C; and (3) Defendants Dzurenda ihulphy “preclud[ing] Mr. Parks from filing any
grievances.” Pl.’s Opp. Br. 29, ECF No. 232. s sued all three Defendants on this claim in
their individual capacity. Am. Gopl. 1 6-8, 82, ECF No. 146.

To survive summary judgment on a clainrefaliation, Mr. Parks must demonstrate
genuine issues of matatifact exist regarding the followin@l) he engaged in protected speech

or conduct, (2) the defendant took adverseoaciigainst him, and Y& causal connection
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existed between the protected speech and the adverse &#miEspinal v. Goor®58 F.3d
119, 128 (2d Cir. 2009). The “adverse actioetamust be “meaningfully” and objectively
adverse in that it would deta similarly situated individuaf “ordinary firmness” from
exercising the constitutional righGill v. Pidlypchak 389 F.3d 379, 380-81 (2d Cir. 2004)
(citations omitted). With respect to the lpsbng, Mr. Parks must show “his punishment was
motivated, in whole or in part, by his conduct -ether words, that the prison officials’ actions
were substantially improper retaliationGraham v. Henderso9 F.3d 75, 79 (2d Cir. 1996).
To prevail on his claim, he must also shioyva preponderance of the evidence that the
Defendants were “personallgniolved—that is, [they] directlparticipated—in the alleged
constitutional deprivations.Gronowski v. Spencef#24 F.3d 285, 293 (2d Cir. 2005ge also
Wright v. Smith21 F.3d 496, 501 (2d Cir. 1996).

Once a plaintiff has proved there are genusseiés of material facin all three of the
elements of a retaliation actidhg burden shifts to the defendant to prove that the plaintiff
would have received the same treatment “a@aehe absence of ¢hprotected conduct.”
Graham,89 F.3d at 79 (citingylount Healthy Sch. DisBd. of Educ. v. Doylel29 U.S. 274, 287
(2977)). “[1]f taken for both proper and impropeasons, state actiomay be upheld if the
action would have been taken bagm the proper reasons alonéd: (citations omitted). The
Second Circuit has recognized tltais defense is often approgtely applied in the context of
prison administrationSher v. Coughlin739 F.2d 77, 82 (2d Cir. 1984) (noting that a finding of
sufficient proper reasons unddount Healthy'is readily drawn in the context of prison
administration where we have been cautione@tognize that ‘prison officials have broad

administrative and discretionary authority over the institutions they manage.”) (qtisnitt
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v. Helms459 U.S. 460, 467 (1983gceded from on other grounds by Sandin v. Corbies,
U.S. 472, 481-84 (1995).

Courts examine prisoner retdian claims with “particular care,” because they can be
easily fabricated Colon v. Coughlin58 F.3d 865, 872 (2d Cir. 1995) (citation omitted).
Prisoner plaintiffs may rely on circumstantiaidance to prove their retaliation claims, such as
temporal proximity of events, but in doing sce fhlaintiff also must usually provide some non-
conclusory evidence that raisesiaference of “retaliatory animus” in order to proceed to trial.
See cf. idat 873 (noting that thedtirt would have granted summary judgment if the only
evidence of retaliation had been plaintiff's gdmehavior and temporal proximity between the
lawsuit and the disciplinary charges but pldfrtias entitled to a trial because he provided
evidence that the disciplinary charge was based on false informat@ndlso Faulk v. Fisher
545 F. App’x 56, 58-59 (2d Cir. 2013) (affirmiiggant of summary judgment where plaintiff
failed to provide any evidence, circumstahtiaotherwise, ofetaliatory intent)Bennett v.
Goord,343 F.3d at 138-39 (2d Cir. 2003) (noting ttmect evidence of retaliatory intent may
not be required where the circumstantial evidence is “sufficiently compelling”).

As mentioned in analyzing qualified immunitiie Court finds that Mr. Parks engaged in
constitutionally protectkactivity by filing lawsuits and ggvances and complaining about his
medical care and frequent transfeBee Gill,389 F.3d at 384 (the “use of the prison grievance
system” is a protected activitygspinal,558 F.3d at 128-29 (filing a federal lawsuit is a
protected activity) (citation omitted). Thus, itsafyrsis will focus on the remaining factors.

1. Transfers Under Consideration
As a preliminary matter, Defendants argliat Plaintiff's Second Amended Complaint

inappropriately includes transfetsat have already been dismidd®y the Court and that only the
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transfer that occurred on August 21, 2008 remainssue. Defs.’ Br. 5 n.2, ECF No. 219-2.
The Court agrees. Defendants correctly naaé thie Court dismissed Mr. Parks’s retaliation
claims for all transfers thatccurred before February 28, 2008cause it found that Mr. Parks
had alleged that he was on “high securityugtaturing that time. Ruling on First Mot. To
Dismiss 22-23, ECF No. 96. In isling, the Court noted that inrt@s on “high security status”
are subject to prison trafers every sixty daydd. Therefore, the Coureasoned that Mr. Parks
failed to state claims of retaliation on pre-February 28, 2008 transfers because “defendants have
demonstrated that they would havansferred the plaintiff ‘eveim the absence of the protected
conduct.” Id. at 23 (citingBennett v. Goord343 F.3d 133, 137 (2d Cir. 2003)).

On June 7, 2013 (over two years after thaiddoto Dismiss Ruling was issued), Mr.
Parks filed a motion for partial reconsideratiorito$ aspect of the Court’s ruling, arguing that it
was based on the false premise that inmates orskglrity status weregaired to be moved to
different prison facilities everyxy days. Pl.’s Mot. For Parti@econsideration 1-2, ECF Nos.
148-149. He explained that discovery had revetidatibeing on high security status did not
require transfers to a diffent prison every 60 days$d. Defendants did not disite that this was
factually true. Opp. Br. 1, ECF No. 150. Theurt denied Mr. Pagks Motion for Partial
Reconsideration “as untimely and not based on newly discovered evidence which could not, in
the exercise of due diligence, have beecalered prior.” Order dated 8/16/2013, ECF No.
162.

Mr. Parks has not squarely put before thisIi€ a motion to reconsad its prior ruling on
this issue at this time. Thus, the dispositibefendants’ summarjudgment motion depends
only on the Court’s analysis tie August 21, 2008 transfer. Howveg, because the parties have

addressed these additional transfers in tmééfs, the Court will analyze them.
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2. Legal Analysis of Inter-Facility Transfers

Defendants have set out two arguments agitpsummary judgment is appropriate on
Mr. Parks’s transfer-based retdlon claims regarding all eighlransfers that Mr. Parks has put
at issue’ First, Defendants argue that assuming Mr. Parks has met his burden, his claim still
fails because the DOC transferred Mr. Parks for “legitimate reasons.” Defs.’ Br. 7-8, ECF No.
219-2 (citingMount Healthy Sch. Dist429 U.S. at 287). Second, Defendants argue that since
they were not personally involgen ordering the transfers, MParks cannot hold them liable
under section 1983d. at 10-11.

a. August 21, 2008 Transfer

On August 21, 2008, Mr. Parks was transfefrech MWCI to Garner. As indicated
above, a mental health professional determinatiNti. Parks, who halbleen receiving mental
health treatment at Garner, was no longer in é¢ldat specializetteatment and could be
placed into the general population. Defsatal Rule 56(a)1 Stmt. 1 609-13, ECF No. 219-1;
Ex. 19, Clinical Record Notes dated 8/20/08 Ghnsistent with DOC policy, Mr. Parks was
transferred back to MWCI, becausevas the facility from whik Mr. Parks originated. EX. 8,
Administrative Directive 9.1, S&on 7(D) (“Upon resolution of the medical concern, the inmate
shall be returned to the sending facility as sasmpossible.”). The fogeing facts are sufficient
to show that Defendants would have trensfd Mr. Parks on August 21, 2008, even in the
absence of him engaging in constitutionally protected conduct.

Mr. Parks does not dispute any of the $asuipporting Defendants’ explanation for the
transfer. Pl.’s Local Rule 56(a)2 Strfifj609-14, ECF No. 234. Thus, he cannot defeat

Defendants’ summary judgment motion, because iae “proferr[ed] an alternative basis [for

3 The Court has already analyzed and disposed of the Defendants’ third argument regarding) iqualifiety
above.
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the actions taken] that would apply to himeevf his version of events were trueGraham,89
F.3d at 81. Accordingly, Defendants have satisfiedtbhant Healthytest and summary
judgment must b&6RANTED on the August 21, 2008 inter-facilityatisfer for all Defendants.
b. The Other Seven Transfers Contested by Mr. Parks

If the seven other transfers Mr. Parks mittssue were before the Court on summary
judgment, the result would be no different. eT@ourt would have gréed summary judgment
for the Defendants. First, Mr. Parks has pded insufficient evidence of retaliatory intént.
Mount Healthy City Sch. Dis#29 U.S. at 287 (identifying plaifiits initial burden, before the
defendant must offer a legitimate reason justifying the action, as requiring a showing that
engaging in protected conduct wassubstantial” or “motivatig factor” in the defendant’s
adverse action). The best evidence that Mr. Haakof retaliatory intens one discussion in
April 2006, during which Mr. Parksontends that Dr. Blanchetteferred to him as being
“crazy” and “threatened” have hisent to Garner. Ex. C, Parks Decl. §75. These comments do
not show retaliatory intent, aisey do not link Mr. Parks’s engimg in protected activity with a
transfer. Moreover, this lonaegry discussion is simply too retedfrom all but the first April
2006 transfer to create a reasonable infereratelth Blanchette wa®taliating against Mr.
Parks. Second, the Court would have dismissed all seven transfers because Defendants have
offered evidence that they would have occumeen in the absence of the protected conduct.
Thus, undeMount Healthy they would have been dismissed.

The transfers that occurred on Augli$, 2006, October 16, 2006, and September 27,

2007 easily satisfy thilount Healthytest. On each of these dates, Mr. Parks was transferred

% Despite the comments allegedly made by Wardens Dzurenda and Murphy about Mr. Parks’s frequesit transfe
there is no evidence that either of them were directlydiraotly involved in the inter-facility transfers. Thus, the
Court need not address their comments in analyzmgl#ims based on the inter-facility transfevgright v. Smith

21 F.3d 496, 501 (2d Cir. 1996) (personal involvement is required to sustain a section 1983 action)
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from Garner back to MWCI, and Defendants paindocumentary evidence indicating that the
transfer would have occurred, even in the absence of Mr. Parks engagiotected conduct.

The August 11, 2006 and October 16, 2006 transiats involved a downgrade in Mr. Parks’s
mental health level. Once, Mr. Parks’s mehidlth status was downgraded, per Administrative
Directive 9.1, he was transferred back to thditgédrom which he had originally come, MWCI.
Mr. Parks does not dispute any of the facts Defetsdasserted that support their theory as to
why these three transfers. Pl.’s Local Rbf€a)2 Stmt. 11587-88, 594-97, ECF No. 234. Thus,
these transfers satisfy tMount Healthytest for the same reasons as the August 21, 2008
transfer.

The September 27, 2007 transfer occubrethuse of a “profilefiled by Counselor
Supervisor Kim Jones, which required the sapan of Mr. Parks from another inmate under
Administrative Directive 9.9. Ex. 12, Adminiative Directive 9.9, &ction 3(D) (defining
separation profile as “[a] recospecifying the need and readon keeping two (2) or more
individuals apart from each other.9ee alsdx. 7, Dzurenda Aff. 22 (“DOC does not keep
inmates with profiles at the same housing unit&gain, Mr. Parks does not dispute any of these
facts that provide a “legitimate” reason for the sfanto have occurred, Pl.’s Local Rule 56(a)2
Stmt. 71605-608, ECF No. 234, thus, Defendants have satisfibtbtire Healthytest.

There is also no evidence that Dr. Blanchefts ever located at Garner or influenced the
individuals that made the deasi to transfer Mr. Parks on treethree dates, other than Mr.
Parks’s own conjectureSuch conjecture is insufficient to create a genuine issue of material fact
on summary judgmentSee Read v. Calabreddg. 9:11-cv-459 (GLS/DEP), 2015 WL
1400542, at *12 (N.D.N.Y. Mar. 26, 2015) (RepariadRecommendation adopted by the District

Court) (finding that plaintiff's conclusory andespulative allegations thaefendant acted with
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retaliatory animus, without other evidence, wasifficient to support a retaliation claim) (citing
Ayers v. Stewart,01 F.3d 687, 687 (2d Cir. 19968pplegate v. AnnucdNo. 9:02-cv-
0276(LEK/DEP), 2008 WL 2725087, at *15 (N.D.N.Muly 10, 2008) (noting that since “the
matter has progressed to the summary judgment stag@po longer sufficienfor the plaintiff to
engage in mere conjecture” regarding the ndsacsiuse the protected activity and the adverse
actions taken and granting defendants’ motiarstonmary judgment because of the absence of
evidence on this issue) (ditans omitted). Accordingly, the August 11, 2006, October 16, 2006
and September 27, 2007 could not have survived a summary judgment motion with respect to
any of the Defendants.

The other transfers from MWCI, where Bianchette was based, require a bit more
scrutiny but two of tm still meet thé/lount Healthytest for dismissal. The April 19, 2006
transfer was caused not by Dr. Blanchette buDby ewis, who explicitlyreferred Mr. Parks to
level 4 mental health housing, which was onlgitable at Garner. MiParks does not contest
that Dr. Lewis analyzed Mr. Parks’s menttaklth condition in early April 2006 nor does he
dispute the content of that euation as represented by the Deferida Pl.’s Local Rule 56(a)2
Stmt.9231-32, ECF No. 234. While there is evidethed Dr. Blanchette agreed with this
result, there is no evidence, other than Rarks’s own speculation, that Dr. Lewis did not
independently assess Mr. Parks and determinénéhaéeded mental heattieatment that could
not be provided at MWCI. Such speculatiomsufficient at summary judgment to refute
Defendants’ showing that the transfer would haseurred even in the abnce of the protected
conduct. See Read?015 WL 1400542, at *12Applegate2008 WL 2725087, at *15.

The August 25, 2006 transfer was caused sgcial worker, Sara Cyr, who saw Mr.

Parks on August 24 and referred him to levaiehtal health housing. Again, there is no
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evidence that Dr. Blanchette was involved iis thansfer other thaMir. Parks’s speculation,

which is insufficient at this stage tweate a triable issue of fadd. Mr. Parks also does not

deny any of the facts explaining f2adants’ legitimate reason ftire transfer. Pl.’s Local Rule
56(a)2 Stmt. 11589-93. Thus, the April 19, 2@86 August 25, 2006 transfers would have been
dismissed on summary judgment.

For the remaining transfers, which ooad on January 16, 2007 and October 26, 2007,
Defendants’ reason that the tragrsfwould have occurred, even in the absence of the protected
conduct, is Dr. Blanchette’s medical assessmeMroParks. Transferring someone to receive
medical treatment is certainly a legitimate, fietaliatory reason thaatisfies Defendants’
burden undeMount Healthy

Because Dr. Blanchette personally recommdriutth of these transfers, the Court also
explored whether there was anydmnce of retaliatory intent. ¢oncludes that there is none.

On January 16, 2007, Dr. Blanchetteoterthat Mr. Parks needed “syiec treatment” at Garner.
This transfer occurred nearbye year after Dr. Blanchetted expressed anger towards Mr.
Parks in April 2006. There is nothing in the recola@ke in time to or about this particular
transfer to indicate that Dr. Blanchett@s acting with retaliatory intenSee Brown v. Graham,
No. 9:07-CV1353(FJS/ATB), 2010 WB428251, at *17-18 (N.D.N.Yar. 30, 2010) (granting
summary judgment for defendants on a retalatiaim where there was no “factual support” for
plaintiff's “conclusory allegation'that defendants were motivatey retaliatory animus) (Report
and Recommendation adopted by the District C@dt1 WL 1213482 (N.D.N.Y. Mar. 31,
2011),aff'd, 470 F. App’x 11 (2d Cir. 2012));eBrown v. Selskyo. 9:05-CV-0172

(GTS/DRH), 2010 WL 1235593, & (N.D.N.Y. Mar. 31, 2010jgranting summary judgment

for defendants because, among other reasonstbedrwas devoid of evidence of retaliatory
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intent and the defendants’ amtiwas roughly three weslafter the protected activity, which was
“somewhat attenuated” in ti@ourt’s view). Similarly, on October 26, 2007, Dr. Blanchette
requested that Mr. Parks be held at Garner fery@ar. There is nothing the record close in
time to or about this particular transfer tehbws Dr. Blanchette was acting with a retaliatory
intent. Id. Moreover, there is evidence in the rectitdt Mr. Parks was going to start Interferon
treatment soon after that date, which was knowmaige neuropsychiatricae effects that would
be best monitored at Garner. Accordingly, the Court would have dismissed the claims based on
the January 16, 2007 and OctoBé, 2007 transfers.

Because the Court has found thltseven of the transfers azenstitutionally proper, the
claims would have been dismissed agailtddefendants, regardless their level of
involvement. Accordingly, even if the Court weoehave considered the other seven transfers
not currently before it, it suld have granted summary judgment on those claims as well on the
current record.

3. Intra-Facility Transfers

With respect to the intra-facility transfeMyr. Parks’s claim fails because he has not met
his affirmative burden. As witthe inter-facility transfers, tmeet his burden, Mr. Parks must
show that a genuine question of material &agsts as to whether the Defendants acted with
retaliatory animusSee Colon58 F.3d at 873Faulk, 545 F. App’x at 58-59 (affirming grant of
summary judgment where plaintiff had produced circumstantideage that the actions could
have been retaliatory butilied to provide any evidence of retaliatory intent).

Mr. Parks cites two statements as evice of Defendants Dzurenda and Murphy
harboring retaliatory intentHe recalls Commissioner Dzurendsking him “something along of

the lines of ‘how the bus therapy was?”” Ex. C, Parks OEA0. Mr. Parks defines “bus
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therapy” as the transfer of a prisoner who ¢@®splained in order to make their continued
complaints or the filing of grievances more difficuld. 1131. On another occasion, Warden
Murphy asked Mr. Parks, “Haven’t you had enough of the bu&?132. The Wardens both
have testified that they bear no ill will towdaMr. Parks and DefendaBzurenda specifically
denies making the statements Mr. Parks attribiotésm. Ex. 7, Dzurenda Aff. 11133-34; Ex. 17,
Murphy Aff. §20.

Because neither of these comments could pgskitelated to intra-facility transfer,
which could not have involved a bus, no reasongiote could conclude that they create an
inference of retaliatory intent with respect to the intra-facitépsfers. Mr. Parks has cited no
other evidence of such intenttvirespect to Defendants Murphy and Dzurenda. Mr. Parks also
has put forth no evidence that Dr. Blanchetss personally involved in his placement on high
security statusSee Wright v. Smitt21 F.3d 496, 501 (2d Cir. 1996) (personal involvement is
required to sustain a section 1983 actioffus, summary judgment must also®RANTED
for all Defendants with respect tioe intra-facility transfers.

4. The Prohibition on Filing of Grievances

As mentioned above, Mr. Parks was infornbgdetter when he was precluded from
filing grievances. Both Wardens specifically note in theietstthat they were acting under
Administrative Directive 9.6. The letters nakbat the Directive permits suspension of an
inmate’s ability to file grievances when thatate files repetitive grievances or when he files
more than seven grievances in a 60-day perMd.Parks does not claim that he did not fit
either of these criteria at the time he receithedletters, nor does he claim that the DOC policy
differs from what the letters indicate. Acdngly, Defendants followed DOC policy as it is

written. Because they have provided a legatienand non-retaliatory reason for their action,
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Defendants have met their burden undeMoeint Healthytest. See GrahanB9 F.3d at 79see
also Jackson v. Jacksolb F.Supp. 2d 341, 352 (S.D.N.Y. 1998) (granting summary judgment
on a retaliation claim based on the filing of a retshvior report, because defendant showed that
he was obligated by statute to file the repdrich demonstrated he would have issued the
misbehavior report “even in the abse of a retaliatory motive”).

Mr. Parks also has produced no evidence@maBlanchette was personally involved in
his placement on high security stat@®ee Wright21 F.3d at 501 (personal involvement is
required to sustain a section 1983@t}i Thus, summary judgment@RANTED with respect
to Mr. Parks’s claim based on the prohibition on filling grievances as to all Defendants.

5. Denial of Hepatitis C Treatment

With respect to Dr. Blanchette’s denial of Hepatitis C treatment, the Court has found in
its analysis of Mr. Parks’s dekrate indifference claims abotreat, when Dr. Blanchette was
treating Mr. Parks, he did not prescribe Hama@ treatment because of concerns about his
mental health status. This reason satisfiedtbent Healthytest, because even if Mr. Parks had
not complained, he still would not hakeceived Hepatitis C treatmerffee Grahang9 F.3d at
81. Thus, Mr. Parks retaliation claim against Blanchette regarding siHepatitis C treatment
must also be dismissed. As discussed in amajythe deliberate indifference claim, Mr. Parks
also has failed to show that Dr. Blanchettes personally involveith the delay of the
administration of Interferon after he was apyd for treatment in December 2007. Thus, he
cannot be liable on the retal@t claim during the time period when Mr. Parks was waiting for
treatment that had been approved.

Moreover, the best evidence that Mr. Pdr&s that Dr. Blanchette was acting with

retaliatory intent is when, iApril 2006, Dr. Blanchette allegéy referred to him as being
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“crazy” and “threatened” to haverhisent to Garner. Ex. C, PafRscl. §75. This event is close
in time to the first decision made by the H&{RB to deny Hepatitis C treatment, but such
temporal proximity alone cannot create a geaussue of material fact as to whether the
motivation behind Dr. Blanchetteactions was retaliationSee cf. Colorg8 F.3d at 873 (noting
that it would have granted summaudgment if the only eviehce of retaliation had been
plaintiff's good behavior and temporal proximitgtween the lawsuit and the disciplinary
charges, but plaintiff was entitled to a triathase he provided evidence that the disciplinary
charge was based on false informatiaee also Williams v. Goord11 F. Supp. 2d 280, 290
(S.D.N.Y. 2000) (“Although the teporal proximity of the [pragcted activity] and the [adverse
action] is circumstantial evidenoé retaliation, such evidencejthwout more, is insufficient to
survive summary judgment.”) (citation omitted).

To the extent these claims are asseatgainst Defendants Dzurenda and Murphy, they
must also be dismissed because there wasmstitutional violation, nor is their evidence that
either was directly involvedSee Wright21 F.3d at 501 (personal involvement is required to
sustain a section 1983 action)cadrdingly, summary judgment GRANTED on Mr. Parks’s
retaliation claim based on the dervékreatment for Hepatitis C.

6. Conclusion

For all of the foregoingeasons, summary judgmenG@&RANTED with respect to all of
Mr. Parks’s retaliation claims amst all Defendants.

I. Legal Analysis of ADA and Rdabilitation Act Claims

Mr. Parks claims that Wardens Dzurenda and Murphy violated Title Il of the ADA and
Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act byliiag to reasonably accommodate Mr. Parks’s

disability by continuing to transfer him bathtra-facility inter-faclity. Am. Comp. §{ 84-85,
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ECF No. 146°® He has sued Wardens Dzurenda ltphy in their official capacity and
requests that the Court “enjoin[ ] them frdanther transferring MrParks or otherwise
discriminating... against him based on disabilityd: § 7-8, 86. At summary judgment, Mr.
Parks also requested that momgt@amages and attorney’s fdmsawarded for violations of
both Acts. Pl.’s Opp. Br. 80, ECF No. 252Mr. Parks now conces that his claim for
injunctive relief is moot, because he has bex@ased from DOC custody. Notice of Pl.’s
Release from DOC Custody, ECF No. 280Thus, the only non-moot claim before the Court
under the ADA and the Rehabilitation Astfor damages and attorney’s fees.

Title 1l of the ADA provides tht “no qualified individual wth a disability shall, by
reason of such disabilitype excluded from participation in or be denied the benefits of the
services, programs, or activitiesa public entity, or be subjtsz to discrimination by any such
entity.” 42 U.S.C. § 12132. Similarly, the ReHaiion Act provides “h]o otherwise qualified
individual with a disability in the United Statesshall, solely by reason bfer or his disability,
be excluded from the participation in, be deniezlibnefits of, or be subjected to discrimination

under any program or activity receiving Fedenaaficial assistance....” 29 U.S.C. § 794,

% Title Il of the ADA and Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act do not provide for individual capacity suits against
state officialsGarcia v. S.U.N.Y. Health Sciences Center of Brooldga F.3d 98, 107 (2d Cir. 2001) (citations
omitted). The ADA authorizes lawsuits for money damages against individuals in their official capatiteg

that the plaintiff can show that the relevant conduct eaused by “discriminatory animus or ill will towards the
disabled.” See idat 111. To recover damages from individualtheir official capacity under the Rehabilitation

Act, Mr. Parks must show that the dedants acted with “delibate indifference” to rights secured by the ASkee

cf. Garcia,280 F.3d at 113-15 (holding that New York had not “in fact” waived its sovereign immunityitvhe
accepted federal funds for SUNY but ngtithat claims for money damages gailg have been permitted upon a
showing that the violation resulted from “deliberate iretigéhce” to rights secured the disabled by the Rehabilitation
Act).

3" Both the ADA and the Rehabilitation Act apply to inmates housed in state prBees?enn. Dep't of Corrs. v.
Yeskey524 U.S. 206, 210-13 (1998) (ADAgee also e.g., Clarkson v. Cough®®8 F.Supp. 1019, 1035 (S.D.N.Y.
1995) (Rehabilitation Act).

3 Mr. Parks was sentenced for the rolytiarSeptember 2005, served his sewe, and was recently released from
DOC custody while Defendants’ summary judgment motios stél pending. Pl.’s Opp. To Defs.’ Mot. Seeking
Extension for Filing of Joint Trial Memorandum 1-2, ECF No. 247. After his initial release, he resided “in
homeless/temporary housing arranged through the Veterans Administratonliist before the Court held oral
argument on the summary judgment motion in March 2015, Mr. Parks was arrested again and was in D®C custod
at the time of the argument. But sirtbhen, he has been released from DO§&tany. Notice of Pl.'s Release from
DOC Custody, ECF No. 260.
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To establish a violation of Title 1l of the ADA, plaintiff must show “(1) that he is a
‘qualified individual’ with a disaility; (2) that he was excluded from patrticipation in a public
entity’s services, programs ortaties or was otherwise discrimated against by public entity;
and 3) that such exclusion or disaimation was due to his disabilityHfargrave v. Vermon40
F.3d 27, 34-35 (2d Cir. 2003) (citation omitted).plaintiff must make the same showing under
the Rehabilitation Act and must also prove tih&t program attacked was federally funded.
Henrietta D. v. Bloomber@®31 F.3d 261, 272 (2d Cir. 2003) (citation omitted).

“The purpose of both statutestgs‘eliminate discrimination othe basis of disability and
to ensure evenhanded treatment betvikerdisabled and the able-bodiedMaccharulo v. New
York State Dept. of Corr. Seryslo. 08 CIV 301 (LTS), 2010 WL 2899751, at *2 (S.D.N.Y.
July 21, 2010) (quotin@oe v. Pfrommerl48 F.3d 73, 82 (2d Cir. 1998)). As part of this
mandate, both statutes mayuée reasonable modificatiofio assure equal access to services
for disabled individualsDisabled in Action v. Bd. of Elections in New Y,of&2 F.3d 189, 197
(2d Cir. 2014) (citations omitted). A modificatids reasonable if it auld not “fundamentally
alter the nature of the service provided’;iopose an undue financial or administrative
burden.” Id. (citations omitted).

Defendants argue that summary judgmemdasranted because Mr. Parks cannot prove
he was prevented from participating in any prograemvice or activity duto his illness or that
any member of DOC staff discrimated against him due to higéss. Defs.’ Br. 31, ECF No.

219-2. The Court agrees.

3 Technically, Title 1l of the ADA requires “reasonable nfiditions” to enable access to the public benefit or
service, as opposed to “reasonaideommodation” under Title |, which applies in the employment context.
McElwee v. County of Orang@00 F.3d 635, 640 n.2 (2d Cir. 2012). In evaluating a “reasonable modification”
claim, the Court may look to Title I, “reasonable accommodation” case law for guiddnce.
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1. Failure to Show Denial of Access Based on Disability

First, Mr. Parks’s claim fails because no meble fact-finder could conclude that in
being transferred to different ¢&eland facilities, he was treated differently from able-bodied
inmates or that he was denied access to pragesn services able-bodied inmates had access to,
because he had HIV/AIDS. While proof of dispargmhpact is not required to state a reasonable
modification claim, “there must be something éieint about the way thegphtiff is treated ‘by
reason of... disability’” such th&a disability makes it difficulfor a plaintiff to access benefits
that are available to both thoaeth and withoutdisabilities.” Henrietta D.,331 F.3dat 276-77
(citation omitted).

Inmates do not have a right to be housedsgegific facility or ina specific type of
housing. See Meachum v. Fand27 U.S. 215, 224-25 (1976) (haldithat inmates do not have
a constitutional right to avoidansfer to a less agreeable prisewen where the transfer visited a
“grievous loss” upon the inmateyjoody v. Dagget429 U.S. 78, 88 n.9 (1976) (holding that
inmates do not have a constitutionally protected right to rehabilitative programs or certain
classifications)accord McKinnon v. Chapdelainslo. CV115035454S, 2013 WL 951324, at *1
(Conn. Super. Ct. Feb. 13, 2013) (“Our courts hdearly held that arisoner has no liberty
interest in his classification @ssignment within the prison system because the commissioner of
correction has discretion to classify or ster prisoners held ihis custody.”) (citingVheway v.
Warden 215 Conn. 418, 431 (1990)). Indeed, the sleniof where to house an inmate is
expressly left to DOC’s discretion. Conn. G8tat. §18-86 (“The commissioner may transfer
any inmate of any of the institutions or facé#iof the department to any other such institution
or facility... when it appears to the commissioner that the best interests of the inmate or the other

inmates will be served by such action”)huB, in being transferrdd different cells and
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different facilities, Mr. Parks was not being tetifferently from able-bodied inmates because
he had HIV/AIDS.

Moreover, Defendants have produced evidehaeMr. Parks was transferred for reasons
that were entirely unrelated to his HIVIAE. To survive summary judgment under the ADA
and the Rehabilitation Act, a plaintiff musipluce some evidence that supports an inference
that the plaintiff was treated difiently from non-disabled individlebecause of his disability.
See Doe v. Pfrommet48 F.3d 73, 83-84 (2d Cir. 1998) (affirming a grant of summary
judgment dismissing a plaintiff's ADA and Rehabilitation Act claims because he was
challenging the quality of services he receivaither than any discrimination against him
because of his disability3ee also Flight v. Gloeckle88 F.3d 61, 63-64 (2d Cir. 1995) (per
curiam) (finding no liability for defendaninder the ADA and Rehabilitation Act because
plaintiff was not denied a befiieavailable to non-handicapp@ad was not denied the benefit
because he was disabled). As discusbede Mr. Parks was moved between cells within
facilities because he was on high security stahgsbetween facilities to provide him with
mental health treatment. He has presenteghvid®ence indicating that these transfers occurred,
because he had HIV/AIDS. Accordingly, his ARAd Rehabilitation Act claims must faibee
Beckford v. Portuondd,51 F.Supp.2d 204, 220 (N.D.N.Y. 2001) (granting defendants’
summary judgment motion on phaiff's ADA and Rehabilitation Act claims based on his
transfer to a cell that was not wheelchamwipged, because defendants provided a reason
unrelated to his disability ae why the transfer had occurred and there was no evidence that
defendants acted “because of an overt intedefpwive him of a service, program or activity by

reason of his disability”).
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Mr. Parks argues that his claim should suevbecause the frequent transfers caused his
medical condition to worsen and he sufferedfenpain and punishment” because he was not
treated differently from ablbedied inmates to accommodats Hisability. Pl.’s Opp. Br. 78,
ECF No. 232 (citingJnited States v. Georgi®46 U.S. 151 (2006)). WhilBeorgiastands for
the proposition that an act that violates thghifha Amendment can state a plausible claim under
the ADA, Georgig 546 U.S. at 156, it does not change the fact that, under the ADA and the
Rehabilitation Act, the discriminatory act (oaction) needs to occur because of an inmate’s
disability. Nor does it changedhact that to survive a summgudgment motion, a plaintiff
must provide evidence that he was denied adoetke services, prognas, or activities of a
public entity.” 42 U.S.C. § 12132. {Beorgia,the Court determined that because the claim
involved impaired access to “such fundamentalsashility, hygiene, medical care, and virtually
all other prison programs,” it satisfied this standageorgig 546 U.S. at 157. The conditions
were ones that would have iblted any person from carrying dwindamental aspects of human
life, including basic hygiene, and were causedheyperson’s need to use a wheelchair.

Here, there is no evidence that the conditwwese so unhygienic or problematic that they
must have denied Mr. Parks access to serypregrams or activitiesEvidence of a general
decrease in one’s well-being without a link to aabifity to participate ira service, program or
activity provided by a publientity, does not survive summary judgment under the ADA or
Rehabilitation Act.See Carrasquillo v. City of New Y0824 F.Supp.2d 428, 443 (S.D.N.Y.
2004) (granting defendants’ motion to dismiss based on claims thatifplaas placed in a
housing unit located far from prison services, reag him to walk great distances and causing
him pain, because plaintiff failed to plead dewibhccess to a service, program or activisge

also Alster v. Goord745 F.Supp. 2d 317, 340 (S.D.N.Y. 20{@anting summary judgment on
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plaintiff's claims based on accommodations he retpeefor his walking and hearing disabilities,
because plaintiff failed to provide evidence ttaticiencies in his prison housing denied him
access to the benefits of services, progranectivities at the prison but denying summary
judgment where plaintiff was unable to shower because of his disability).

2. Mr. Parks’s Requested Modification Was Not Reasonable

Second, Mr. Parks’s requested modificationattiie not be transferred between or
within prison facilities—was unreasonable. “[$t@ry rights applicable to the nation’s general
population [must] be considered in lighiteffective prison administration.Gates v. Rowland
39 F.3d 1439, 1446 (9th Cir. 1994) (witlspect to the Rehabilitation AcBee alsdolurner v.
Safley 482 U.S. 78, 84-85 (1987) (noting deferencprison administration regarding managing
prison populations is appropriatehn evaluating whether a gimenodification is reasonable in
the prison context, the Courtust take into account thegimate interes of prison
administrators in “maintaining security and order” and “‘operating [an] institution in a
manageable fashion.'Pierce v. Cnty. of Orang&26 F.3d 1190, 1217 (9th Cir. 2008) (quoting
Bell v. Wolfish441 U.S. 520, 540 n.23 (1979)).

As discussed above in analyzing thelrat®n claims, Mr. Parks was transferred
between facilities to receive mental hedifatment and for other population management
reasons. Before July 2009, he was movediwihgiven facility because he was on high
security status, meaning DOC had determined thgbdwe[d] a threat to the safety and security
of the facility, staff, inmates or the publicEx. 15, Administrative Dirgtive 9.4, Section 3(H).
Stopping these transfers would halenied Mr. Parks mental heattleatment and sacrificed the

safety and security of thenmates at Garner and MWCI.
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“The Second Circuit has explained thahaligh the public entity must make ‘reasonable
accommodations,’ it does not have to proviaksabled individual with every accommodation
he requests or the accomdation of his choice Kearney v. N.Y.S. D.O.C,8lo. 9:11-CVv-1281
(GTS/TWD), 2013 WL 5437372, at ®.D.N.Y. Sept. 27, 2013) (citingicElwee v. Cnty. of
Orange 700 F.3d 635, 640 (2d Cir. 2012)) (granting summary judgment on ADA and
Rehabilitation Act claims based on the denial cdguest to transfer the plaintiff to a facility
with a “medical infirmity uit” because the request was @ateasonable accommodatiosge
also Wright v. Guiliani230 F.3d 543, 548 (2d Cir. 2000) (“[gHisabilities statutes do not
require that substantively differesg¢rvices be provided to thesdbled, no matter how great their
need for the services may be.”). The Courtié that Mr. Parks’s request that he not be
transferred, given the reasahsit those transfer wereaurring, was not a reasonable
modification.

Defendants’ Motion for Summagudgment, with respect todltlaimed monetary relief
under the ADA and the Rehabilitation Act, is her&RANTED.

1. CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, DefendaiMstion to Correct Exhibits, ECF No. 255, is
DENIED AS MOOT. Defendants’ Motion for Summgaidudgment, ECF No. 219, is
GRANTED in its entirety. The Clerls directed to enter judgment for the Defendants and close

the case.

SO ORDERED at Bridgeport, Connecticutith4th day of November 2015.

/s/ Victor A. Bolden
VICTOR A. BOLDEN
UNITEDSTATESDISTRICT JUDGE
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